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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

Sun Jie &b
Chairman F /&

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”)
of China Electronics Huada Technology Company
Limited (the “Company”), | hereby announce that,
for the year 2024, the Company together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) achieved a sales revenue of
HK$2,349.0 million, representing a decrease of 22.2%
when comparing with last year, and earned a profit
attributable to the shareholders of the Company of
HK$587.5 million, representing a decrease of 14.4%
when comparing with last year. Basic earnings per
share was HK28.94 cents.

RAANBRRPBEETERABRFEBERAA ([AAQ
ANEEe([EEg])EM ' 2024F A RFI RHE
EAR ([AEE]) BERHFEEWA2,349.08 8%
T BMEFTR22.2% » 5ZEB N ADFAL R % F
ARS8 5SEHEBIL BREF TM14.4% - BRRER
B A28.947 Al -
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The Board recommends the payment of a dividend of
HK9.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK10.5 cents). Subject to the approval of
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the dividend will be distributed
on or before 31 July 2025.

Looking ahead, the global macroeconomic environment
will remain weak and the demand for smart cards will
continue to be in a downward cycle. With the entry
of new domestic smart card chips companies into
competition, the competition in the industry will become
increasingly intense and the selling price of smart card
chip products will continue to show a downward trend,
which will pose challenges to the Group’s operations.
On the other hand, as information security requirements
in various industries continue to increase, and the
demand for security in intelligent devices continue to
rise, the range of application of security SE chips and
security microcontroller unit chips will become more
and more extensive in the future, which will bring new
market opportunities for the Group. With challenges
and opportunities coexisting, the Group will closely
monitor application trend changes in both domestic
and international markets, intensify efforts to expand
potential markets, and dynamically adjust production
and sales strategies, so as to provide a wider variety
of and more competitive products to better meet
customers’ needs.

On the other hand, leveraging years of accumulated
expertise in security chips design and application
technology, the Group will continue to strengthen
investment in research and development of security
chips in the sector of mobile terminals, Internet of
Things and Internet of Vehicles with a market-orientated
approach, taking into account the development pace
of mobile terminals, Internet of Things and Internet of
Vehicles applications, and optimise product mix with
technological innovation to strive to meet the needs of
customers, thereby creating a sustainable future.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

In January 2024, Ms. Luo Wenjing resigned as an
executive director of the Company. On behalf of the
Board, | would like to thank Ms. Luo for her invaluable
contributions during her tenure of service.

In September 2024, Mr. Xu Haidong resigned as the
Chairman of the Board and a non-executive director of
the Company. On behalf of the Board, | would like to
thank Mr. Xu for his invaluable contributions during his
tenure of service.

In November 2024, Ms. Liu Jinmei retired as a
non-executive director of the Company and a member
of the remuneration and nomination committee of the
Company. On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank
Ms. Liu for her invaluable contributions during her
tenure of service.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank
all staff members of the Group for their contributions
and tireless efforts in the past year, and express our
most sincere gratitude to our shareholders and business
partners for their longstanding trust and support.

Sun lJie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Results overview

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to HK$2,349.0 million, representing
a decrease of 22.2% when comparing with last year.
Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to HK$587.5 million, representing a decrease of 14.4%
when comparing with last year. The basic earnings per
share was HK28.94 cents (2023: HK33.82 cents).

Integrated circuits design operation

The Group’s integrated circuits design operation
comprises the design of smart cards and secure element
chips and the development of application system.
Currently, the Group’s products are mainly used in the
sectors of identity authentication, financial payment,
government utilities, telecommunications, Internet of
Things and Internet of Vehicles. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group obtained 19 new patents,
registered 1 new software copyright and 3 new
integrated circuits layout designs.

In 2024, global market demand for smart cards and
secure element chips was sluggish, competition in
both domestic and international markets continued to
intensify, and selling prices of smart card and secure
element chip products continued to decline.

BEEFNWE DN
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWE DN

In 2024, affected by geo-political influences, coupled
with the entry of new domestic smart card chips
companies into the competition which further
intensified market competition, the sales volume of SIM
card chips decreased when comparing with last year.
Affected by sluggish market demand and customers’
inventory depletion, the sales volume of bank card
chips decreased when comparing with last year.
Due to an increased penetration rate, coupled with
the promotion of the use of electronic cards, which
reduced the need for reissuance and replacement,
the sales volume of third-generation social security
card chips decreased when comparing with last year.
Benefiting from a small-scale centralised replacement
exercise, the sales volume of identity authentication
products increased when comparing with last year.
Despite the sluggish market demand for security
chips, the Group strengthened efforts in expanding
the application of security SE chips in the sector of
mobile terminals, Internet of Things and Internet of
Vehicles, resulting in the sales volume of security SE
chips remaining substantially the same as last year.
Meanwhile, as new security microcontroller unit chip
products are continuously introduced to the market,
sales volume of security microcontroller unit chips has
gradually increased when comparing with last year. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s total
sales volume decreased by 9.7% when comparing with
last year.

In 2024, as competition in the industry intensified and
the selling prices of the Group’s products continued
to fall, coupled with the impact of decrease in sales
volume of major products such as SIM card chips,
bank card chips, social security card chips, etc., the
Group’'s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to HK$2,349.0 million, representing a
decrease of 22.2% when comparing with last year.

2024FSIM KRR R BUARRE - M2 BIARH
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HEEREAFEMTIR 2B ROEAZMHEHEX
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FERSRE MBHEREBAERNER D
B FEHEEERELAFEAFE - AR BEL
EEECATERTEERTS  HEERETF
%*Fhﬂ HE2024F12831HILEE  AER
BHEEREFTHIT% o

2024 % - *”T%?ﬁ%bur%u CAREEEREE
RS %%TE% BNSIMETERR B REH
HEREREAFETEERHEE THRANTZE
NEBEB E2024F12A31BIEFEHNKRAAE
2,349.0BE BT WEF T FE22.2% °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Benefiting from effective cost control and a reversal
of provision for slow-moving inventories through
processing and modification of slow-moving
inventories, the overall gross profit margin for the
year ended 31 December 2024 has increased when
comparing with last year despite decrease in selling
prices of smart cards and secure element chips caused
by intense market competition.

Selling and marketing costs for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to HK$45.6 million (2023:
HK$79.4 million). The percentage of selling and
marketing costs to revenue decreased to 1.9% from
2.6% last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the effectiveness of the stringent cost control measures
implemented by the Group.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to HK$562.7 million,
representing an increase of 5.6% when comparing
with last year. The increase in administrative expenses
was primarily due to an increase in research and
development costs during the year. The percentage
of administrative expenses to revenue increased to
24.0% from 17.6% last year. The Group continued to
implement stringent cost control measures during the
year.

Research and development costs for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to HK$447.6 million
(2023: HK$421.4 million). The percentage of research
and development costs to revenue was 19.1% (2023:
14.0%). Research and development during the year
primarily focused on the research and development of
security SE chip products and security microcontroller
unit chip products, the continuous enhancement of
smart card products’ performance, the enhancement
of products’ security certification level, the research of
security chips for use in the Internet of Things and the
Internet of Vehicles sector as well as the development
of application systems and solutions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWE DN

Other income

Government grants recognised as income increased
by 185.1% to HK$88.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, resulting from an increase
in government grants received for research and
development costs incurred by the Group in the year.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The Group consistently employs a prudent treasury
policy and generally finances its working capital
requirements through internal resources, and bank and
other borrowings. At 31 December 2024, the Group
had cash and cash equivalents amounting to HK$743.0
million, of which 93.4% was denominated in Renminbi,
6.3% in United States dollars and 0.3% in Hong Kong
dollars (2023: HK$1,107.5 million, of which 97.9%
was denominated in Renminbi, 1.8% in United States
dollars and 0.3% in Hong Kong dollars).

At 31 December 2024, the Group had bank and other
borrowings of HK$378.0 million, all were due within
one year and all were denominated in Renminbi (2023:
HK$496.6 million, all were due within one year and
all were denominated in Renminbi). Among these
borrowings, (i) all were unsecured (2023: all were
unsecured), and (ii) all were borrowed at fixed interest
rates (2023: all were borrowed at fixed interest rates).
At 31 December 2024, committed borrowing facilities
available to the Group but not drawn amounted to
HK$983.3 million.

HAt A

BARAEE A =2024F12A31 B It FEZEEM
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s revenue is mainly denominated in
Renminbi and payments are denominated in Renminbi
and Hong Kong dollars. The Group will make use of
hedging contracts, when appropriate, to hedge the
risk of foreign exchange fluctuation arising from its
operations.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
assets of HK$1,563.6 million (2023: HK$1,459.9
million). The gearing ratio of the Group is calculated
as net debt divided by total equity and net debt of the
Group. At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
the Group was in net cash position.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any
assets as collateral for its borrowings (2023: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
material outstanding capital commitment (2023: nil) for
the acquisition of fixed assets and intangible assets. The
Group did not have any material contingent liability at
31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

BEEFNWE DN
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWE DN

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately
470 employees (including senior management of the
Group), 33.3% of which is female and the majority of
whom were based in Mainland China. Employee benefit
expenses for the year were HK$352.6 million.

The Group recognises the importance of high
calibre and competent employees and has a strict
recruitment policy and performance appraisal scheme.
Remuneration policies of employee are largely in line
with industry practices, and are formulated on the basis
of performance and experience and will be reviewed
regularly. Bonuses and other merit payments are
linked with the performance of the Group and of the
individuals as incentive to optimise performance.

The Group’s employee training is divided into three
levels: corporate level, departmental level and individual
level. Corporate level training focuses mainly on
cross-departmental and internal all-purpose trainings,
such as new employee trainings, and quality and
safety requirements trainings. Departmental level
training focuses mainly on enhancing knowledge and
skills in departmental professional areas. Trainings for
individuals act as a useful supplement to the two types
of training above.

18 8 & % B BUR
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The Company is committed to achieving the best
corporate governance practices by emphasising
on accountability, transparency, independence,
responsibility and fairness. The Company is dedicated
to exercise corporate governance through regular
reviews of its corporate governance practices with
reference to the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code"”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions in the CG Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2024, with the exception of code
provision C.1.6 of the CG Code as summarised in the
section headed "Attendance record at meetings” of
this report. The following summarises the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company.

CULTURE AND VALUES

As an integrated circuits design enterprise, the
Group focuses on the information security needs of
“Industrial digitalisation and digital industrialisation”,
and provides smart card and secure element chip
products and application solutions for sectors such as
fintech, network communications, Internet of Things,
Internet of Vehicles, intelligent transportations and
smart manufacturing. The Group will continue to
build a corporate culture of “Proactivity and pursuit of
success” and strive to become a world-class smart cards
and secure element chips design enterprise.

STRATEGIC PLANNING

The Company has an ongoing strategic planning
process to identify and assess opportunities and
challenges that the Group may face and to develop
a planned course of action for the Group to create
sustainable value for the Company’s shareholders in the
long run.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report
L¥ERRE

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised two
executive directors, two non-executive directors and
four independent non-executive directors. The role
of the chairman of the Board and the role of the
chief executive are separate. The chairman of the
Board is responsible for leading and overseeing the
functioning of the Board and the strategic development
of the Group. The chief executive is delegated with
the authority and responsibility for managing the
Group’'s business, and the implementation of the
Group’s strategies in achieving the overall business
objectives. Throughout the year ended 31 December
2024, the position of the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive were not held by the same
individual. As at 31 December 2024, the position of
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive were
held separately by Mr. Sun Jie and Mr. Chang Feng,
respectively. Such division of responsibilities helps to
reinforce their independence and accountability. There
are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among the directors (including the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive).

All the directors, including the non-executive directors,
do not have a specific term of appointment and will
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the bye-laws
of the Company. The remuneration of the directors
are determined with reference to their duties and the
prevailing market conditions.

The Board is responsible for the formulation of long
term business objectives, strategies and plans, and
to monitor and control the operating and financial
performance of the Group. The daily operations and
implementation of business objectives of the Group are
delegated to the chief executive. The management is
delegated with the necessary authority to manage the
daily operations and perform its duties.
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The Board is also responsible for performing overall
corporate governance duties, including formulating and
reviewing the Company’s corporate governance policy
and practice, reviewing and monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, formulating,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code. During the year, the
Board has performed all of the above functions.

The Board is responsible for appointing new directors
to fill any vacancy on the Board. The Company’s
policy concerning diversity of board members (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) sets out the approach to
achieve diversity of the Board members. The criteria
for appointment of directors is that the candidate must
have the ability to contribute to the effective carrying
out by the Board of its responsibilities, and after due
regard to factors which include but is not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, and
professional experience towards achieving diversity of
the Board members. Regarding gender diversity, the
Board is of the view that one female representation on
the Board is sufficient. Currently, there is one female
director on the Board. The nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) can ensure that
there will be potential successors to the Board which
continues the gender diversity within the Board.
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During the year, the Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Board considered that diversity of the Board
members has been achieved as the Board is composed
of directors from a diverse range of background.

An analysis of the composition of the Board members
at 31 December 2024 is set out below.

100%

Executive
director (25%)

iﬂﬁ;§$
80% (25%)

Non-executive
director (25%)

60%
Male (87%)
St (87%)

40%
20%

0%
Gender Designation

15 k467

The Group will invest more resources in training and
recruiting high performing female employees, with the
aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Group.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board. Taking into account the following channels and
mechanisms, the Board considered that the Company had
in place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a
strong independent element within the Board:

(1) 50% of the Board members are independent
non-executive directors;
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(3)

annual meeting between the chairman of
the Board and all independent non-executive
directors without presence of other directors
provide an effective platform for the chairman
of the Board to listen to independent views on
various issues concerning the Group;

independent professional advice would be
provided to independent non-executive directors
upon reasonable request to assist them to
perform their duties to the Company;

all independent non-executive directors
are required to provide an annual written
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

no equity-based remuneration with
performance-related elements are granted to
independent non-executive directors.
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All directors have actively participated in the review
and monitoring of the Group’s business. The Board
holds meeting regularly and at least 4 times a year.
Management provides the Board with regular updates
giving a balanced and easily understandable assessment
of the Group’s performance, financial position and
prospects. The directors have full access to information
on the Group and independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the
directors will be given written notice of the meeting at
least 14 days in advance and the meeting agenda and
accompanying Board papers no less than 3 days prior
to the meeting. For other meetings, directors will be
given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable
in the circumstances. If a director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting.
Independent non-executive directors who, and whose
close associates, have no material interest in the matter
should be present at that Board meeting. All minutes
of Board and Board committee meetings are kept by
the company secretary of the Company for record
with sufficient details of the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board committee(s),
including any concerns raised or dissenting views
expressed by any director. These minutes are available
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any director. The attendance record of each
of the directors at general meeting(s), Board meetings
and Board committee meetings held in 2024 are set
out on page 33 of this annual report. Besides providing
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group, all directors have disclosed to the Company
the number and nature of the offices held in other
public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, and will update the Company in a timely
manner on any subsequent changes. Appropriate
insurance on directors’ liabilities are in force to protect
the directors against their potential legal liabilities to
third parties that may be incurred in the course of
performing their duties.
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The directors acknowledge the need to continue to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for
making contributions to the Company. The trainings
and continuous professional development activities
with appropriate emphasis on the roles and functions
of a director of a listed company participated by the
directors in 2024 are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the company
secretary of the Company, Mr. Ng Kui Kwan, has met
the requirement on professional training under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

On 24 January 2024, Mr. Wang Jian was appointed as
an executive director of the Company.
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Mr. Wang lJian has obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards to
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to him as a director of the Company on
15 January 2024. Mr. Wang Jian has confirmed that
he has understood his obligations as a director of the
Company.

On 28 May 2024, Ms. Huang Yaping was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the
Company.

Ms. Huang Yaping has obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards
to the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to her as a director of the Company on 21
May 2024. Ms. Huang Yaping has confirmed that she
has understood her obligations as a director of the
Company.

On 24 September 2024, Mr. Sun Jie was appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company and the
chairman of the Board.

Mr. Sun Jie has obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards to
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to him as a director of the Company on
19 September 2024. Mr. Sun Jie has confirmed that
he has understood his obligations as a director of the
Company.

On 20 November 2024, Mr. Fu Dan was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company.

Mr. Fu Dan has obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards to
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to him as a director of the Company on 5
November 2024. Mr. Fu Dan has confirmed that he
has understood his obligations as a director of the
Company.
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THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE")

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules to regulate the
directors’ securities transactions. All directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2024, the remuneration and
nomination committee comprised four independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Qiu Hongsheng,
Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Chow Chan Lum and Ms.
Huang Yaping and an executive director Mr. Wang
Jian. Mr. Qiu Hongsheng is the chairman of the
remuneration and nomination committee. The terms
of reference of the remuneration and nomination
committee, which described its authority and duties,
is available on the website of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (www.hkex.com.hk) and the
website of the Company (www.cecht.com.cn).

The principal responsibilities of the remuneration
and nomination committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration of the directors and the
senior management, reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference
to the Board’s corporate objectives, determining, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual executive director and senior management,
making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors, identifying
and making recommendation to the Board on possible
appointees as directors, making recommendations to
the Board on matters relating to appointment or re-
appointment of directors, succession planning for
directors, reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under the Listing Rules and assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive
directors.
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The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria and
procedures to be adopted when considering candidates
to be appointed or re-appointed as director of the
Company. A summary of the nomination criteria of the
Nomination Policy is set out below.

(1) ability to contribute to the effective carrying out
by the Board of its responsibilities;

(2) effect on the Board’s composition and the
diversity of its members in all its aspects,
which includes but is not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, and
professional experience;

(3) independence of the candidate; and
(4) commitment to devote sufficient time.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy on a
regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

In making recommendations to the Board in respect
of the composition of the Board, the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of directors, the
remuneration and nomination committee will give
due regard to nomination criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy.

During the year, the remuneration and nomination
committee held five meetings. The attendance record
of each of the committee members at these meetings
are set out on page 33 of this annual report. The
work performed by the remuneration and nomination
committee during the year included reviewing the
remuneration policy and the remuneration of the
directors and the senior management, assessing
performance of the executive directors, determining
the remuneration of the executive directors, reviewing
the policy for the nomination of directors, making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors, and assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive
directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the number
of senior management (excluding directors) whose
remuneration fell within the band from HK$1,000,001
up to HK$1,500,000 was one. Details of the
remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out on page 145 of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2024, the audit committee
comprised four independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Qiu Hongsheng,
Mr. Chow Chan Lum and Ms. Huang Yaping. Mr. Chan
Kay Cheung is the chairman of the audit committee.
The terms of reference of the audit committee, which
described its authority and duties, is available on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(www.hkex.com.hk) and the website of the Company
(www.cecht.com.cn).

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, discussing issues
arising from the review of the condensed consolidated
interim financial statements of the Group and the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
with the external auditor, and any matters the external
auditor may wish to discuss, monitoring the integrity
of the Group's accounts, financial statements, interim
reports and annual reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them,
reviewing the Group’s financial reporting system, and
risk management and internal control systems, and
ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the internal audit function. External auditor and the
directors are invited to attend the committee meetings
as and when necessary. The audit committee meets at
least twice a year with the external auditor. The audit
committee also serves as a channel of communication
between the Board and the external auditor.
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During the year, the audit committee held three
meetings. The attendance record of each of the
committee members at these meetings are set out on
page 33 of this annual report. The work performed by
the audit committee during the year included reviewing
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
unaudited consolidated interim financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024
and the audit plan and approach of the external
auditor, monitoring the progress and results of the
audit regularly, reviewing the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, reviewing the report on the works of the audit
department for the year 2024, the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal audit function, the continuing
connected transactions of the Group, and the
independence of the external auditor, and making
recommendation to the Board for the appointment and
remuneration of external auditor.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company’s audit department is responsible for
carrying out analysis and independent assessment on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems. The duties
of the audit department include:

o reviewing all important operations and internal
controls of the Group;

o comprehensive audits of the practices, procedures,
expenditure and internal controls of all important
operational units and support units and
subsidiaries on a regular basis; and

o special reviews of areas of concern identified by
the management or the audit committee.

The audit department reports directly to the audit
committee and has direct access to the Board through
the chairman of the audit committee. The audit
department may directly report to the audit committee
without consulting the management.
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The audit department issued reports to senior
management covering various operational and financial
units of the Group. The audit department also conducted
reviews of major projects and contracts as well as areas of
concern, if any, identified by the management.

Concerns (if any) which have been reported by the audit
department were monitored regularly by the management
and the audit committee until corrective measures have
been implemented.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees
payable to the Company’s external auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided to the Company
and its subsidiaries are set out below.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group and its
financial performance and cash flows during the
reporting period in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards. A statement from the
auditor about its responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 55
to 63 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Board had selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, had made prudent and
reasonable judgments and estimates and prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is
willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems,
including reviewing their effectiveness annually. The
audit committee is delegated by the Board with the
responsibility to oversee independently the Group's
financial, risk management and internal control systems
and report to the Board on the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems
annually.

Appropriate policies and controls have been formulated
and established for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, maintaining proper
financial and accounting records, ensuring compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and identifying
and managing major risks that may impact on the
Group’s performance. As the risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, they can only be expected to provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems, while
the audit committee oversees the actions of the
management and review the effectiveness of the
systems that have been put in place. Systems and
procedures are in place in the Group to identify,
control and report on major types of risk the Group
encounters. Operational units are responsible for
identifying the potential risks, and analysing and
evaluating the significance of such risks. Operational
units also assess the adequacy of existing controls
and implement treatment plans to mitigate such risks
and report the view of risks and proposal for the
improvement of the existing systems and procedures
regularly to the audit committee, and ultimately to the
Board on major findings. The audit committee reviews
the existing risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis and makes appropriate
improvement when necessary, with a view to enhance
the effectiveness of such systems.
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The Company has engaged SHINEWING Risk Services
Limited, an independent advisory firm, to conduct
an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The scope of review
included the internal control systems of the Group at
the entity level, as well as major business processes
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, CEC Huada
Electronic Design Co., Ltd and Shanghai Huahong
Integrated Circuit Co., Ltd, covering key controls such
as financial, operational and compliance controls of the
Group. The review results have been reported to the
audit committee and the Board. The Board is satisfied
that these systems were effective and adequate
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. In this
regard, to enhance the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, the Group
has begun to implement the recommendations put
forward by SHINEWING Risk Services Limited.

The audit committee has also held discussions with
the Group’s external auditor, to ensure that a sound
internal control system is maintained and operated by
the management in compliance with the established
procedures and standards.

The Board has reviewed and ensured the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and the budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The Board is responsible for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Company
has formulated and implemented procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in
a timely manner so as to allow all the stakeholders
to apprehend the latest position of the Group. These
procedures are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure
their continued effectiveness.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a
special general meeting

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, registered
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the registered
office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda for the attention of
the Board or the company secretary of the Company
to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such special general meeting shall
be held within two months from the date of deposit of
such requisition.

The written requisition must be signed by the registered
shareholders concerned and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more
of these shareholders. The written requisition will be
verified with the Company’s share registrars and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and
in order, the company secretary of the Company will
ask the Board to convene a special general meeting
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory and regulatory requirements to all the
registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the written
requisition has been verified as not in order, the
shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, a special general meeting will not be
convened as requested.

If within twenty one days from the date of deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene
a special general meeting, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene
a special general meeting, but any special general
meeting so convened shall be held within three months
from the date of deposit of such requisition.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
either any number of the registered shareholders
holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, or not
less than 100 registered shareholders, can request the
Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled
to receive notice of the next general meeting notice
of any resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The written requisition and a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses for serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement submitted by the registered shareholders
concerned in accordance with the statutory and
regulatory requirements to all the registered
shareholders must be deposited at the registered
office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda for the attention of
the company secretary of the Company not less than
six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution; and not less than
one week before the meeting in the case of any other
requisition; and where an annual general meeting is
called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition
requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited,
the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited for such purpose.
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The written requisition must be signed by the registered
shareholders concerned and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more
of these shareholders. The written requisition will be
verified with the Company’s share registrars and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and
in order, the company secretary of the Company will
ask the Board to include the resolution in the agenda
for the general meeting, and serving the notice of the
resolution and circulating the statement submitted by
the registered shareholders concerned in accordance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements to all
the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the
written requisition has been verified as not in order, the
shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be
included in the agenda for the general meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a director

Pursuant to the Company’'s bye-laws, a registered
shareholder duly qualified to attend and vote at the
general meeting wishes to propose a person other than
a director of the Company for election as a director
at the general meeting must validly serve (1) his/her
written notice of intention to propose a candidate
for election as a director at the general meeting; (2)
a written notice signed by the nominated candidate
of the candidate’s willingness to be elected; (3) the
nominated candidate’s information as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;
and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to
the publication of his/her personal data, either to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Room 3403, 34th floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong; or to the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17th
floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and no later than seven days prior to the date
of such general meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board and the management maintain an on-going
dialogue with the shareholders through various
channels. For example, the chairman of the Board,
chief executive, other members of the Board and the
external auditor attend the annual general meeting to
meet the shareholders where the Board would answer
questions raised by the shareholders on the business
activities of the Group in so far as they are relevant to
the resolutions under consideration. The Company’s
website which contains corporate information,
interim reports, annual reports, announcements and
circulars issued by the Company as well as the latest
developments of the Group enable the shareholders to
have timely and latest information of the Group. The
Company’s shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) is available on
the website of the Company (www.cecht.com.cn).

Having considered the multiple channels of
communication and engagement in place, the Board
is of the view that the Shareholders’” Communication
Policy has been properly in place in 2024 and remains
effective.

Procedures for directing shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to
the Board in writing through the company secretary of
the Company whose contact details are as follows:

Room 3403, 34th floor, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Facsimile: (852) 2598 9018

Email: investor@cecht.com.hk

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board
at the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The constitutional documents of the Company is
available on the website of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and the website of the Company.
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At the annual general meeting held on 28 June 2024,
a special resolution was passed by the shareholders
of the Company approving (a) certain amendments
(the “Amendments”) made to the bye-laws of the
Company to (i) bring the bye-laws of the Company
in line with the regulatory requirements in relation
to the expanded paperless listing regime and the
electronic dissemination of corporate communications
by listed issuers and the relevant amendments
made to the Listing Rules which took effect from
31 December 2023; (ii) facilitate the repurchase of
shares of the Company as treasury shares, in view of
the amendments made to the Listing Rules relating
to treasury shares which came into effect on 11 June
2024; and (iii) incorporate certain house-keeping
changes, and (b) the adoption of the second amended
and restated bye-laws incorporating the Amendments
in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the then
existing bye-laws of the Company. Details of the
Amendments are set out in the circular dated 6 June
2024.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

Details of each of the director’s attendance at general
meetings, Board meetings and Board committee
meetings held in 2024 are set out below.
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2R E L&

BREFM0UFEEREAS EFTLHLE
ELZEeeHABHRHIOT -

Meetings attended/held
B/ BTEENY
Remuneration
and
nomination
Audit committee
committee MK General
Note Board® 3 B2 meetings
ki3 Ezgo ZE® ZEg BRRAE
Non-executive directors FHITES
Sun Jie B (3) 1710 0/0
Xu Haidong TR (4) 570 2120
Fu Dan 73 (5) 0/0 0/0
Liu Jinmei 251 (6) 6/7 4/5 22
Executive directors HTEE
Chang Feng Tl 717 22
Wang Jian B (7) 5/6 22
Luo Wenjing BXE 8) 0/1 0/0
Independent non-executive directors BUKHTES
Chan Kay Cheung R E 8/8 3/30 5/5 212
Qiu Hongsheng ileide 8/8 33 5/50 0/210
Chow Chan Lum FIE 8/8 33 5/5 22
Huang Yaping EERE 9 33 0/0 22 22
Notes: B3
(1) Chairman. (1y EE-

(2) Included a Board meeting where the chairman of the Board
met with independent non-executive directors without other
directors and management present.

(3)  Appointed in September 2024.

(4) Resigned in September 2024.

(5) Appointed in November 2024.

(6) Retired in November 2024.

(7)  Appointed in January 2024.

(8) Resigned in January 2024.

(9)  Appointed in May 2024.

(10) Under the code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Qiu
Hongsheng, an independent non-executive director of the
Company, was unable to attend the special general meeting

and the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
June 2024 due to other ad hoc engagements.
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(10) MRIBEEERTRINTARNC.1.6 - BYIFRTEZR
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENREREEAEHE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Jie, aged 58, is the Chairman of the
Board. Mr. Sun graduated from Anhui University
with a Bachelor's degree in Computer Software,
and is a leading senior engineer (IE=#& TF2AM). Mr.
Sun is currently serving as the chief economist of
China Electronics Corporation Limited (“CEC"), the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company,
and the chairman of the board of directors of Huada
Semiconductor Co., Ltd (“Huada Semiconductor”), a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Sun was
a senior engineer of the 38th Research Institute of the
Ministry of Electronics Industry, a deputy director of the
Electronics Department of the 38th Research Institute
of the Ministry of Information Industry, a director of
the International Cooperation Department of and
an assistant director of the 38th Research Institute
of China Electronics Technology Group Corporation,
a deputy director of the Marketing Department, a
director of the Production and Operation Department, a
director of the Operation Management Department and
a director of the Industry Planning Department of CEC.
Mr. Sun was appointed as a director of the Company in
September 2024.

Mr. Fu Dan, aged 38. Mr. Fu graduated from East
China Normal University and holds a Bachelor’'s degree
in Electronic Information Science and Technology, and
is an engineer. Mr. Fu is currently serving as a director
of the technology and innovation department of Huada
Semiconductor responsible for scientific research
management and external technological cooperation,
as well as a director of Xiaohua Semiconductor Co.,
Ltd and China Electronics Smart Card Co., Ltd, both of
which are subsidiaries of Huada Semiconductor. Mr. Fu
was the project leader of avionics equipment in the
research and development department of Shanghai
Aviation Electric Co., Ltd and the project manager
of machine vision chips in the project management
department and head of government relationships
of Shanghai Juyou Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.
Mr. Fu was appointed as a director of the Company in
November 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Feng, aged 43, is the Deputy Chairman of
the Board and the Managing Director of the Company.
Mr. Chang graduated from University of Science and
Technology Beijing with a major in Computer Science
and Technology, and obtained a Master’'s degree in
Retail Management from NEOMA Business School in
France. Mr. Chang is currently serving as the general
manager of CEC Huada Electronic Design Co., Ltd
(“Huada Electronics”), a director and the general
manager of Shanghai Huahong Integrated Circuit Co.,
Ltd, and the non-executive deputy general manager
of Huada Semiconductor. Mr. Chang was a technical
support engineer of Oberthur Card Systems (China)
Co., Ltd and a technical support engineer of Aien
Technology (China) Co., Ltd. Mr. Chang joined Huada
Electronics in 2006 and was the marketing manager,
sales manager, sales department manager and deputy
general manager of Huada Electronics. Mr. Chang was
appointed as a director of the Company in September
2021.

Mr. Wang Jian, aged 43. Mr. Wang graduated from
the University of Electronic Science and Technology of
China and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Optoelectronic
Information, and is an engineer. Mr. Wang is currently
serving as the secretary to the board of directors, the
administrative controller, the director of the board
office and the director of the general department of
Huada Semiconductor, an executive director and the
general manager of CEC Chitsing Technology Co., Ltd,
a director of Xiaohua Semiconductor Co., Ltd and the
chairman of the supervisory committee of Shanghai
Belling Corp., Ltd (a company with its shares listing
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Wang was the
secretary of the general office of Nanjing Huadong
Electronics Group Co., Ltd, and the director-general of
the personnel and general affairs department and the
director-general of the administrative and legal affairs
department of Nanjing CEC PANDA CF Technology
Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang was appointed as a director of the
Company in January 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENREREEAEHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, aged 78. Mr. Chan was an
executive director and the deputy chief executive of The
Bank of East Asia, Limited, and the vice chairman of
The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited. Mr. Chan joined
The Bank of East Asia, Limited in 1965 and possesses
extensive knowledge and experience in the banking
industry. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers. Mr. Chan is also currently
serving as an independent non-executive director of
Chu Kong Shipping Enterprises (Group) Company
Limited and SOCAM Development Limited (all being
companies with their shares listing on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange). Mr. Chan was appointed as a director
of the Company in May 1997.

Mr. Qiu Hongsheng, aged 60. Mr. Qiu graduated
from the School of Management of Harbin Institute
of Technology and holds a Postgraduate degree
in Management Science and Engineering, and is a
Certified Public Valuer in the PRC, an International
Certified Senior Enterprise Risk Manager, a Certified
M&A Dealmaker in the PRC, a senior economist and a
fund management intermediary. Mr. Qiu is currently
serving as an executive director and the general
manager of China Consultants of Advisory and Finance
Management Co., Ltd and a visiting professor of
Tianjin University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Qiu
worked in 710 Research Institute of the Ministry of
Aerospace Industry of China as an economic analyst for
a number of years. Mr. Qiu joined China Consultants
of Advisory and Finance Management Co., Ltd, a
company directly managed by the Ministry of Finance
of the PRC, in 1994 and focuses on management
consulting and corporation restructuring transactions.
Mr. Qiu possesses a wealth of professional knowledge
and practical experiences in corporate finance, mergers
and acquisitions, strategic integration, meticulous
management, etc. Mr. Qiu is also currently serving
as an independent non-executive director of China
Electronics Optics Valley Union Holding Company
Limited (a company with its shares listing on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange), and an independent director
of Valiant Co., Ltd and China Greatwall Technology
Group Co., Ltd (all being companies with their shares
listing on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and GRINM
Semiconductor Materials Co., Ltd (a company with
its shares listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange).
Mr. Qiu was appointed as a director of the Company in
November 2012.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chow Chan Lum, aged 74. Mr. Chow graduated
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration in 1974,
received a Postgraduate Diploma in Accountancy
from the University of Strathclyde in Glasgow, United
Kingdom in 1975 and was awarded a Postgraduate
Diploma in Chinese Laws by the University of Macau in
1987. Mr. Chow has been a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland since 1979 and
is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chow is a member of the
Foreign Experts Consultative Committee on China
Independent Auditing Standards of the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC. Mr. Chow served on a number of
committees of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, including as the deputy chairman
of the Auditing & Assurance Standards Committee,
and a member of the Investigation Panel and the
Professional Standards Monitoring Committee and
as president of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
Mr. Chow is currently serving as an honorary advisor
and committee member of various social bodies, and
has been a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Guangdong Province, the
PRC from 1997 to 2012. Mr. Chow was awarded the
Medal of Honor by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the PRC in 2013 and
conferred the Honorary Doctorate by The Hong Kong
Academy for Performing Arts in 2021. Mr. Chow was
appointed as a director of the Company in June 2015.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENREREEAEHE

Ms. Huang Yaping, aged 56. Ms. Huang graduated
from China University of Political Science and Law
with a Bachelor’s degree in Laws and holds a Lawyer’s
License in the People’s Republic of China. Ms. Huang
is currently serving as a senior partner, a director of
the corporate mergers and acquisitions and commercial
affairs committee and a member of the corporate
securities operation internal verification committee of
Guantao Law Firm, as well as the managing partner
of Guantao Law Firm Shenzhen office. Ms. Huang
was a practicing lawyer of Shenzhen Finance and
Real Estate Law Firm and an executive partner of
Guangdong Jindi Law Firm. Ms. Huang was a council
member of Shenzhen Lawyers Association and a deputy
director of the securities law professional committee
of Guangdong Lawyers Association. Ms. Huang's
main areas of practice include corporate, finance and
securities and possess a wealth of practicing experience
in the areas of corporate listing and securities offering,
investment and financing, and restructuring and
mergers and acquisitions. Ms. Huang was appointed as
a director of the Company in May 2024.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ng Kui Kwan, aged 63, is the company secretary
of the Company. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Accounting from the University of Liverpool
in United Kingdom. Mr. Ng is a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Ng has many years of experience in
auditing, finance and administration. Mr. Ng joined the
Company in November 2008.
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The directors submit their report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group is the design and sale
of integrated circuit chips. The activities of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 64 of
this annual report.

The Board recommends the payment of a dividend of
HK9.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK10.5 cents per share) totalling
HK$182,688,000 (2023: HK$213,137,000). The
dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of
the Company consisted of 2,029,872,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each. Details of movements in the share
capital of the Company during the year are set out in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Company did not have any treasury share as at 31
December 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 68 of this annual report and Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$192,753,000 (2023: HK$266,850,000).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company implements a dividend policy which
aims to provide a stable dividend to shareholders.
The Company will take into account, among others,
the following factors when formulating proposals for
dividend distribution:

(a) the financial performance of the Group; and

(b)  the future funding requirements of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 148 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's business review, discussion and
analysis of its performance for the year and the
outlook of its businesses are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 12 and on
pages 4 to 6 of this annual report, respectively. Such
discussions constitute an integral part of this report.

The performance and results of the Group’s businesses
are subject to various important factors, including
the relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers. The Board believes that the employees
are one of the Group’s most important assets which
enable the Group to achieve long-term sustainable
performance. The Company will strive to ensure
that the remuneration level of employees is in
line with industry practices and prevailing market
conditions, and remuneration of employees will
be determined based on their performance. Being
people-oriented, the Group ensures all employees
are reasonable remunerated and also continues to
improve and regularly review and update its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, and occupational
health and safety.
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In addition, the Board places great emphasis on a
long-term and stable relationship with the Group’s
customers and suppliers for the continuous success
and growth of the Group’s businesses. The Group
has an extensive sales network across Mainland China
and to manage such network requires a close working
relationship with our customers directly and through
distributors, agents and other business partners.
The Group will continue to strengthen its customer
service to provide superior quality service to the users,
and strive to achieve the fastest response time and
highest customer satisfaction levels in the industry. The
Group's continuous effort to build trust and strengthen
mutually beneficial cooperation with its customers and
suppliers has facilitated to foster long-term cooperation
relationships with them. This is also in line with the
Group’s business strategy and objectives to maintain its
leading position in the integrated circuit chips design
industry in Mainland China.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACTORS

As nearly all of the Group's revenue is attributable to the
market in Mainland China, the results and performance
of the Group’s businesses depend on the growth of
the information technology industry in Mainland China,
particularly the electronic information technology
industry. Although the information technology industry
is demonstrating a growing trend in the past which is in
part supported by favourable government policies, any
negative trend in the information technology industry
or other restrictive policies may materially and adversely
affect the business, financial condition and results of
operation of the Group.

Mainland China integrated circuits market is highly
competitive with relatively short product cycles, and
is subject to government policies. The Group's results
of operation substantially depend on the successful
execution of its business strategy and development
plan to maintain its leading position in the integrated
circuit chips design industry in Mainland China. The
Group may face challenges in implementing its business
strategies, and its ability to achieve its goals may be
adversely affected by various factors, some of which
are beyond its control. If the Group is not able to
execute its business strategy and development plan, its
businesses, financial condition and results of operation
may be materially and adversely affected.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICY

As the practitioner and promotor of the integrated
circuit chips design industry in Mainland China, the
Group is committed to operating its business in an
environmentally friendly manner. Although most of
the Group’s businesses are not subject to any of the
relevant environmental protection rules and regulations
restriction, the Board believes that operating the
Group’s businesses in an environmentally friendly
manner is crucial to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibilities.

In order to maintain a high standard of employees
awareness of the relevant rules and regulations, the
Group offers periodical trainings to its management
personnel. As a result of the Group’s commitment
to environmental protection and through the
implementation of advanced technologies, the Group
has achieved safe and environmentally friendly
operation for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has published its Environmental,
Social and Governance Report with reference to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules on the
website of the Company (www.cecht.com.cn) and
on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkex.com.hk).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Board believes that compliance with laws and
regulations is the cornerstone of an enterprise and
attaches considerable importance to it. Furthermore,
as the shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Company is
also subject to the rules and requirements under the
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO"). To the best knowledge of the Board, the
Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations throughout the year ended 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS

The following are the directors who held office during
the year and up to the date of this report:

Non-executive Directors

Sun Jie (Chairman) (appointed on 24 September 2024)
Fu Dan (appointed on 20 November 2024)

Xu Haidong (resigned on 24 September 2024)

Liu Jinmei (retired on 20 November 2024)

Executive Directors

Chang Feng (Deputy Chairman and Managing Director)
Wang Jian (appointed on 24 January 2024)
Luo Wenijing (resigned on 24 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chan Kay Cheung

Qiu Hongsheng

Chow Chan Lum

Huang Yaping (appointed on 28 May 2024)

Mr. Sun Jie was appointed as director by the Board
on 24 September 2024. Mr. Fu Dan was appointed as
director by the Board on 20 November 2024. Pursuant
to bye-law 86(2) of the bye-laws of the Company,
Mr. Sun Jie and Mr. Fu Dan will hold office only until the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the bye-laws of the
Company, Mr. Chang Feng will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

The Company has entered into a service contract
with each of the directors of the Company containing
terms relating to, among other things, compliance
with relevant laws and regulations, and observation
of the bye-laws of the Company. The directors of the
Company will be subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the bye-laws of the
Company and the Listing Rules.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
employing company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
and considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2024, Mr. Chang Feng, an executive
director of the Company, was interested in 28,000
ordinary shares of the Company (long position)
(representing 0.01% of the issued share capital of the
Company). Save as disclosed herein, none of the directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which were recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, any of its
holding companies or subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of
the Company or their respective close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company, any of its holding companies
or subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the year had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance
with any controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been
entered into for the services provided by any controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements also
fall under the definition of “continuing connected
transactions” within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. These transactions have complied with the
requirements as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of certain of these transactions which
are subject to the reporting and annual review
requirements under the Listing Rules are set out below.
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Sale of products and services MARETFEBKERRIHEEM i i 179,436
to the CEC Group K AR %5
Purchase of products and services from the A B E FEBEK B AR KRB E R i, i 256,164
CEC Group K R %5
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Group MEERE
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Notes:

(i)

46

CEC is a controlling shareholder of the Company. CEC and its
subsidiaries (the “CEC Group”) is therefore connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

On 13 April 2021, the Company entered into a business
services agreement (the “2021 Business Services Agreement”)
with CEC to reflect the terms of the proposed continuing
connected transactions and the proposed caps of the
transactions contemplated thereunder for the period
commencing from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024.

Pursuant to the 2021 Business Services Agreement, the CEC
Group will provide technology development, processing,
testing and assembling services to the Group, the Group will
purchase raw materials, integrated circuit modules, softwares,
equipments and intellectual properties from the CEC Group,
and the Group will sell products such as integrated circuit
chips, modules and cards, and provide technology development
services to the CEC Group.

The 2021 Business Services Agreement and the related caps
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting held on 29 June 2021,
details of which are set out in the circular dated 4 June 2021.

On 9 September 2022, the Company entered into the First
Supplemental 2021 Business Services Agreement with CEC
to revise the existing caps for the transactions contemplated
under the 2021 Business Services Agreement for each of the
years ending 31 December 2022 and 2023 and the six months
ending 30 June 2024. The First Supplemental 2021 Business
Services Agreement and the related caps were approved by
the independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting held on 25 October 2022, details of which are
set out in the circular dated 30 September 2022.

On 16 April 2024, in order to continue the existing continuing
connected transactions contemplated under the 2021
Business Services Agreement, the Company entered into a
business services agreement (the “2024 Business Services
Agreement”) with CEC to reflect the terms of the proposed
continuing connected transactions and the proposed caps
of the transactions contemplated thereunder for the period
commencing from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027.

Pursuant to the 2024 Business Services Agreement, the CEC
Group will provide technology development, processing,
testing and assembling services to the Group, the Group will
purchase raw materials, integrated circuit modules, softwares,
equipments and intellectual properties from the CEC Group,
and the Group will sell products such as integrated circuit
chips, modules, cards and technological licenses, and provide
technology development services to the CEC Group.

The 2024 Business Services Agreement and the related caps
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting held on 28 June 2024,
details of which are set out in the circular dated 13 June 2024.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

On 20 December 2023, the Company entered into a master
property management services agreement (the “2024 Master
Property Management Services Agreement”) with CEC,
pursuant to which the CEC Group shall from time to time
provide property management services to the Group for a term
of three years commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending
on 31 December 2026. The transactions contemplated under
the 2024 Master Property Management Services Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.
Details of the 2024 Master Property Management Services
Agreement are set out in the announcement dated 20
December 2023.

On 20 December 2023, the Company entered into a master
lease agreement (the “2024 First Master Lease Agreement”)
with CEC, pursuant to which the Group shall from time to time
lease out properties located within the PRC and owned by the
Group to the CEC Group for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026. The
transactions contemplated under the 2024 First Master Lease
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company. Details of the 2024 First Master Lease Agreement are
set out in the announcement dated 20 December 2023.

On 20 December 2023, the Company entered into a master
lease agreement (the “2024 Second Master Lease Agreement”)
with CEC, pursuant to which the Group shall from time to
time lease properties located within the PRC and owned by
the CEC Group from the CEC Group for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending on 31 December
2026. The transactions contemplated under the 2024 Second
Master Lease Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company. Details of the 2024 Second
Master Lease Agreement are set out in the announcement
dated 20 December 2023.

On 13 April 2021, the Company entered into a financial
services agreement (the “2021 Financial Services Agreement”)
with China Electronics Financial Co., Ltd (“CEC Finance”)
to reflect the terms of the proposed continuing connected
transactions and the proposed caps of the transactions
contemplated thereunder for the period commencing from
1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024. Pursuant to the 2021 Financial
Services Agreement, the financial services to be provided by
CEC Finance to the Group includes deposit services, financial
assistance and fee-based or commission-based financial
services.

The 2021 Financial Services Agreement and the related caps
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting held on 29 June 2021,
details of which are set out in the circular dated 4 June 2021.

On 16 April 2024, in order to continue the existing continuing
connected transactions contemplated under the 2021 Financial
Services Agreement, the Company entered into a financial
services agreement (the “2024 Financial Services Agreement”)
with CEC Finance to reflect the terms of the proposed
continuing connected transactions and the proposed caps
of the transactions contemplated thereunder for the period
commencing from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027.

(iii)

(vi)
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

Pursuant to the 2024 Financial Services Agreement, the
financial services to be provided by CEC Finance to the Group
includes deposit services, financial assistance and fee-based or
commission-based financial services.

The 2024 Financial Services Agreement and the related caps
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting held on 28 June 2024,
details of which are set out in the circular dated 13 June 2024.

Pursuant to the 2021 Financial Services Agreement, the
maximum daily balance of deposits (together with the interests
accrued thereon) maintained by the Group with CEC Finance
shall not exceed RMB700 million and the Group’s actual
balance of deposits (together with the interests accrued
thereon) with CEC Finance on any given day during the six
months ended 30 June 2024 had not exceeded such amount.
For the provision of financial assistance, the maximum amount
of financial assistance provided by CEC Finance to the Group
shall not exceed RMB700 million on any given day and the
actual balance of financial assistance provided by CEC Finance
on any given day during the six months ended 30 June 2024
had not exceeded such amount. For the provision of fee-
based or commission-based financial services, the consideration
payable by the Group shall not exceed RMB2.0 million and the
total consideration paid by the Group during the six months
ended 30 June 2024 had not exceeded such amount.

Pursuant to the 2024 Financial Services Agreement, the
maximum daily balance of deposits (together with the interests
accrued thereon) maintained by the Group with CEC Finance
shall not exceed RMB700 million and the Group’s actual
balance of deposits (together with the interests accrued
thereon) with CEC Finance on any given day during the six
months ended 31 December 2024 had not exceeded such
amount. For the provision of financial assistance, the maximum
amount of financial assistance provided by CEC Finance to
the Group shall not exceed RMB700 million on any given day
and the actual balance of financial assistance provided by
CEC Finance on any given day during the six months ended
31 December 2024 had not exceeded such amount. For the
provision of fee-based or commission-based financial services,
the consideration payable by the Group shall not exceed
RMB1.5 million and the total consideration paid by the Group
during the six months ended 31 December 2024 had not
exceeded such amount.

Save as disclosed above, all of the related party
transactions as disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.
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The above continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive directors
of the Company. In the opinion of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company, the above
continuing connected transactions were carried out in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
on normal commercial terms and were in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Based on the results of the work performed on the above
continuing connected transactions, the auditor of the
Company has confirmed in the letter to the Board that
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that these continuing connected transactions:

o have not been approved by the Board,

° were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group if the
transactions involve the provision of goods or
services by the Group;

° were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

o have exceeded the cap as disclosed in the
announcements.

CHANGE IN DIRECTOR’S PARTICULARS

Change in particulars of the director of the Company
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) and
Rule 13.51(2)(e) of the Listing Rules is set out below.

Mr. Wang Jian was appointed the chairman of the
supervisory committee of Shanghai Belling Corp., Ltd (a
company with its shares listing on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange) in October 2024.
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EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the
following directors of the Company are considered
to have interests in businesses which compete or are
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group:

EERBFRBE 2ER

RAFEARBERARERY  TIARRES
RESFHARANEEXFE R KR RBXBTEF L
AEEMAR BT 2 XK

Nature of
director’s interest
Principal business in the entity
Name of director Name of entity of the entity ESRER
EEpE BREEE BRCTEXYR ZERME
Sun Jie Huada Semiconductor (Note 1) Design and manufacture Chairman
B HERFERE (fitT) of integrated circuits BEER

EXERRT LBGE
Wang Jian Shanghai Belling Corp., Ltd (Note 1) Design and manufacture Chairman of the
Tl EBBEEROBRAR (M) of integrated circuits ~ supervisory committee
ERERRE MEE EEgXR

Note: B st

(1) CEC is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. () FEEFEEAAATYBEEBEE "TRETE®

CEC is a state-owned nationwide electronics and information
technology conglomerate. These companies are subsidiaries
or associates of CEC and engaging in, or have subsidiaries or
associates engaging in, integrated circuits related businesses
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

The above mentioned competing businesses are
operated and managed by independent management
and administration. The Board exercises independent
judgment and is always acting for the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. Accordingly,
the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
competing businesses mentioned above.

RHAZBAEETREEMEBEEEHEE - ILFEQ A
RTEEFEE MBARSBE AR MARERBELR
A E NI A REAEE X BRI MEERER
FRABBRBF ZEKNERERET -

FRZBFREHHRBLERBEMITRARZE
RER - EEEITEBMAE N ARLRE RHERK
RZEBNETE - Bt AEESUNZB IR
FRABFRBRAFEEZ T ALEEER -
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

At 31 December 2024, the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO showed
that the following persons (other than the directors
or chief executive of the Company) had notified the
Company that they had an interest of 5% or more in
the issued share capital of the Company:

Report of the Directors

EEGRE
A AR RR

R2024F12A318 ' RIBFEHF K HAEKHIF336
EAARAEFEZECMA R THAL( AR
AEEIZRETBRAERIN EMERARFEE
BERRABHEITRAS%EA E 2

Number of
shares held or

attributable Percentage
BEREL of shareholding
Name of interested party BERZERE R EE BERESHK
China Electronics Corporation  China Electronics Corporation 812,500,000 40.03%
(BVI) Holdings Company (BVI) Holdings Company
Limited (“CEC (BVI)") Limited ([ CEC (BVI)])
Huada Semiconductor (Note 1) ZER¥ERE (f/7t71) 1,206,180,000 59.42%
CEC (Note 2) PEEFEE (Hit2) 1,206,180,000 59.42%
Notes: it -
(1) Huada Semiconductor holds 100% equity interest in CEC (BVI). (1) ZERFEEIZFHCEC BV)ZI100%MRHE - RIEBAH K
Pursuant to the SFO, Huada Semiconductor is deemed to be & % ﬁﬁ#%ﬁ“ 43 &35 BCEC (BVI ﬁﬂ—rﬁz
interested in the 812,500,000 shares of the Company held by 812,500,000/ A"~ RIAR 15 2 #E 2 o

CEC (BVI).

(2)  To the best knowledge of the directors of the Company, China
Electronics Limited holds 58.07% equity interest in Huada
Semiconductor, and CEC holds 81.66% equity interest in China
Electronics Limited. Pursuant to the SFO, CEC is deemed to
be interested in the shares of the Company held by Huada
Semiconductor.

All the interests disclosed above represent long position
in the shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any other interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which were required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

(2) BARAREEMAMN PEEFERARGAEAYE
B2 258.07 %% - ﬁﬁqﬂla%%@ﬁﬁqﬂ?@%ﬁlﬂ
NAE281.66%E - BIFFFKAEIEN - FEREF
ERRAREERLBREMFEZ2ARRARD ZES
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RERNSEHETMEMATHEARRQFRKG I8
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased or sold any of the Company's shares
(including the sale of treasury shares) and the Company
had not redeemed any of its shares during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate
sales attributable to the five largest customers of the
Group accounted for 66.1% of the Group’s sales for
the year and sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer accounted for 20.2% of the Group's sales
for the year. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the aggregate purchases attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 76.0%
of the Group's purchases for the year and purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 30.2% of the Group’s purchases for the year.

To the best knowledge of the Board, CEC is not a
beneficial owner of the five largest customers of the
Group and is a beneficial owner of one of the five
largest suppliers of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their
respective close associates or any shareholder (which
to the best knowledge of the Board owns more than
5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 or
subsisted at 31 December 2024.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme
of the Group are set out in Notes 8 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report, the Company has purchased
and maintained a collective liability insurance policy
for, including but not limited to, all directors of the
Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract, other than employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Group’s businesses
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and to the best knowledge of the
Board, at the date of this report, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital are held by the
public and fulfills the requirement under the Listing
Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations amounting
to HK$364,000 (2023: HK$344,000).
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by Forvis
Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On 28 June 2024, the term of office of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the auditor of the Company expired. On the same
day, the shareholders resolved to appoint Forvis Mazars
CPA Limited (formerly known as Mazars CPA Limited)
as the auditor of the Company. Details of the change of
auditor are set out in the announcement dated 28 May
2024.

On behalf of the Board

Sun Jie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
BRI ES N ERERERAT
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
EHE(FHEE185EPIEEIR4218
Tel &3 : +852 2909 5555

Fax %E +852 2810 0032

Email EES: info.hk@forvismazars.com
forvismazars.com/hk

To the shareholders of China Electronics Huada
Technology Company Limited

(incorporated in Cayman lIslands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Electronics Huada Technology Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 147, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’'s Report
18 M 2% B AT R &

forvss
mazars

B FEEFEANERERAAZERR

(RASHEFTMAIRRERZLEKEZ
BR 2 AE])

=z
=

RZBEMEBZINERFEABE147TEFRHE T
EARBEERAR(TERR]) RENBAR (5K
BMAIEEE]) ZERAVEHRE  WERE VKR
RBHEN2024512 A31 Elz,ﬁv?é-\ﬁﬁ“;'ﬂlkﬁ%% - B
FZHLEFEZRABER HKAZEKER
RARDEHRREET %ﬁ%% A REREE
BERENTE  BEERSHABRRELR -

AZBMRE  RAMERREBEESSTM
RE([BECHHMAE]) BH2EBYBREE
A([EEMBREEN D EEMAFHRE &
EER2024F 128318 2R KRB EZA 1E
FEZUBRBELABES RS @ W BB A &M
ZHEBERTEZARS -

FEETEANKERAA 202455HK 55



Independent Auditor’'s Report
B AR

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS"” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Key audit matter
MRE BT

Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables

B SR BBIEEERAERE

Refer to notes 2.8, 4.3 and 18 (b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
BLHRETEBRERME2.8 43 MW :E18(b)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross balance
of trade receivables was HK$411,853,000, against
which a provision for expected credit losses of
HK$61,687,000 was made.

R2024%12A31H - E5EE JEKRHIERE
%1 /3411,853,000/ T - Wt R HAEE B ERE
61,687,000/ T °

Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables reflects the management’s best
estimate to determine the expected credit losses.
The provision for expected credit loss requires
significant management judgments in determining
the estimation method, in making assumptions about
the risk of default and expected credit loss rates and
in selecting data inputs for calculating the expected
credit loss provision.

BORWFIB EREEEREERUEREETR
HEEFBEN&EMLE -FAHEEEEREBETEER
BELEXRAE  2FHEENTE  BRELRR
REMEEBEEBRRNERNAEBALEEZRBES
BREBEHTENR AR -

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M 2% B AT R &

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
BMNESNNEEBRETSHE

Our key procedures in relation to the provision for
expected credit losses of trade receivables included
the following:

HE B ZENA R R BEE R RGN IEBRIEF

a1 -

e  We obtained an understanding of the Group's
internal control and management’s assessment
process of provision for expected credit losses
of trade receivables and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias.
HEFRUKENEHREEBEEE  KM7T
R BEEENEENEEG REIEENTER
2 WRBEREMGFTHEEENREE A AE
BREREEZRKT - EMME - B - BB
NEBEBRANGURNE  FETERERNE
B -

J We evaluated and tested the key controls over
the management’s estimation of the provision
for expected credit losses of trade receivables.
BAEHAERIA T RN E IR E G E 5 EKIE
MIREE SRR A RRR R -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B AR

Key audit matter
MR E BT

The assessment of expected credit loss provision was
an area of focus for us given the inherent risk due to
uncertainties and significant management judgments
involved in estimating the expected credit loss.
EHEEFERBRERMBINGRE  RESMEER
HEEERRETERTRERARR I RERERE
et EERES =R

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter
BMNESNNEEBRETSE

We assessed and tested the method,
assumptions and data used in estimating
the provision for expected credit losses by
performing procedures include (1) assessing
the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provisioning model, (2) testing, on a sample
basis, the accuracy of the ageing profile of
trade receivables at the year-end to supporting
documents, (3) evaluating the estimation
method used in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework, (4) testing
the significant data inputs and challenging
assumptions (including the current conditions
and future forecast of macroeconomic
factors) used by the management to estimate
the expected credit losses, (5) testing the
mathematical accuracy of calculation of the
expected credit losses.
BPRTTRFUFELARA THERPEE
BIEBEGMAON A  BRRREE - HEAREF
B ()EEREEBEREEMERNERR
WEEE  QUHMERTAREFRE FHEKRNK
HRRHEBEEIHFEXH  QFIEEER
M BHREERPEANMGEA L @ARHE
BERARGENGEERREBIANEZH
BEHRBEA - THRR (BEEZELEREZNE
A AR T B R AR S B FEORI) 1) B 32 FE 4R H B AR
GYARABREEBERETEAERM
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Key audit matter
O

Provision for inventories

FEE R

Refer to notes 2.8, 4.1 and 19 to the consolidated
fmanaal statements.

AE2HFA VB ERWME2.8 41 RMF19 -

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of the Group's inventories was HK$847,662,000,
where a reversal of provision for inventories of
HK$87,829,000 was recognised in the cost of sales
for the year ended 31 December 2024

20245 12A318 - SEGFERMERES
847,662,000/ 7T * M87, 829 ,0007% 7t 077 15 i 18 &
Bl R 8 22024412 A31 8 1 [ 10 35 & B A R e

_7.1
s °

N

)
i
=

Finished goods and work in progress are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimation of provision for inventories involves
significant management judgments based on
consideration of key factors such as assessment of
the physical condition of the inventories, future sales
projection, and the estimation of the net realisable
value of the inventories.

?ﬁkuuﬁfhéuu?ﬁl@($ﬂ—f """"" A3R (B E’]fﬂi%ﬁ']

T BERENFIERREEENSEGE - ZHE
FEEEEEELSE A ’F]%fﬂa? S ) P2 IR RE ) T
fi - RRPETI RF LRSI FENG -

The assessment of provision for inventories was an
area of focus for us given the inherent risk due to
uncertainties and significant management judgments
involved in estimating the provision.

GEBETEERFEORE  RESGEETER
BEER MEEEAER AR EAGEE b s E

BRE -

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M 2% B AT R &

How our audit addressed the key audit

matter
BN EF N MEEEARETSEER

Our key procedures in relation to the provision for
inventories included the following:

HEFER BRI ERIEFE7

o We obtained an understanding of the
Group’s internal control and management’s
assessment process of provision for inventories
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to

management bias.

EEEE RMTHE T SRENHEREANHE
%&E@Fmﬁﬁmﬁ’/

E 1 B A2 2 A E B A [ B '
FEME - EBUE - BURE Egﬁrﬂﬂ’\]@l,@?li'
ALl T B WA E A R o

e We evaluated and tested the key controls over
the management’s estimation of the provision
for inventories.
%gfglxﬁ\ﬁﬁ?%ﬁé%ﬁ13%‘#7(?%’1%‘&{%%

|

e We assessed and tested the method,
assumptions and data used in estimating
the provision for inventories by performing
procedures include (1) observing physical
condition of inventories, on a sample basis,
during attendance of inventory count by
management to identify slow moving,
damaged, or obsolete inventories, and inquiring
of management as to whether a provision
had been provided for those inventories, (2)
testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
ageing profile of inventories at the year-end
to supporting documents, (3) evaluating the
estimation method used in the context of
the applicable financial reporting framework,
(4) testing the significant data inputs and
challenging assumptions (including the
determination of the net realisable value of
the inventories) used by the management to
estimate the provision, (5) testing, on a sample
basis, the mathematical accuracy of calculation
of the provision for inventories.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B AR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the 2024 annual report of
the Company, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Hth & #

E”T%$M£E@ﬁﬂi§i§  HiERBEAR
NEROAFFHAHER AL NBIEERS M
WREAZBE G A M BEHRREEZ]HE o

AT M BRRERZERY MRER
ER - BT TR BERERE N 2B S

o

WBEZGEAVBHRERMS - ARBM 2B ETEH
BEMER WP EEEBENESRGEER
BHRREET B SRMRBERDXSTHAE
ZERBBERERBRML - WRMAENRAETZ
T A EEMER HREANERED - B
ARBUEFE - RUME  AZBEALELTME
RBTER

BEENREEERBEYHES
B

Ry EE

=
BA

= AR ERAERBLGMASRM 2R EY
BHREENRZRABGIN 2 HERE  AER
HEBRFZEAUBHRER YHEZRAUR
AT EHNUEFER M EHR 2 EAHRERML
ZIREMBRRMBCBBAMLEERE -
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M 2% B AT R &

REEEEMBHRRE - EZRETE E5HE
FERKEZEN HEARBRERLEZEHE (I
AR RERKEREREHER KRIFEEFE
B BEREBRIFULLE  SHEEMER
MEBRTER-

BEEREAAEEE BEEZUBHRESE-

BRBMEERGEMBRR2EME

BPNBEERYSEAMBEBRREBRS N FER
REGFRERMER 2 ERERRAIMSE S ER
o WHAFHIBMEROZBENRSE - HAIS
ERER BETE®RMMMEEMBARE - - HAT
UREZAR  HEMEBALTERSIAER
(R

EERBBESERE  BETRBARIRRBELET
HAPETT 2 BRAREBBRRXATEIEANHERR
At o $ERER AL T R ERFF S H AR 51 R - Mo & IR IR H
BRBRRLEFNERERAEZEREZS
REMB|MRMEDOZEERTE - AREHERRL
BIRAREEX o
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B AR

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

62

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

RIBE(REENEIDETEERE  RMASEEZ
BRETEAEXHEH R FRFEREREE - LM

o HBAEFEHRRIFXERMEBNSA M
BHRRFAERERRAM Z AR - REFLH
TREZERR 2 BZERF  YERZD G
EERBEERERMABRZER - BN
FERRES RER - BE - ERER  EBR
At SR BAEREE - FUE RBEE IR AR
AF T B B2 85K #5 BR BRI B9 L e 1= 1 K B 3%
BARNERMERE -
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B2 BYIFEEN BEXREZAEE
BB ERER -
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o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Wai
Practising Certificate number: P05708

Independent Auditor’'s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= = 32
meBmRk
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ok FET FHETT
Revenue A 5 2,348,984 3,019,120
Cost of sales 55 & AR 7 (1,214,021) (1,721,057)
Gross profit ER 1,134,963 1,298,063
Other income — net HE g A —F%8 6 125,624 69,050
Selling and marketing costs HE TS HEEKA 7 (45,578) (79,364)
Administrative expenses ITHRFA X 7 (562,742) (532,765)
(Impairment losses)/net reversal of B 5 I H h & YK IE
impairment losses on trade and (REEE) RE
other receivables E5 18 F B O 18 (195) 2,273
Operating profit & E i Al 652,072 757,257
Finance income BEWA 9 15,095 21,829
Finance costs B & AR 9 (38,310) (42,594)
Finance costs — net BB A —FEE 9 (23,215) (20,765)
Share of result of an associate B —REBE AR XS 17 (71) 173
Gain on deemed disposal of an RELE—FHE R
associate 17 4,988 -
Profit before taxation RR B Al % F 633,774 736,665
Taxation sl 10 (45,090) (49,300)
Profit for the year KEEHEF 588,684 687,365
Profit for the year attributable to: XEEZAFBER :
Owners of the Company AArERFESE 587,501 686,431
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR 4 2 1,183 934
588,684 687,365
Proposed dividend EERE 11 182,688 213,137
HK cents HK cents
A B
Basic earnings per share BRELRER 12 28.94 33.82
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEHEWER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit for the year REEHEF 588,684 687,365
Other comprehensive income for AEEHKRHEERDN
the year, net of taxation: Ht 2 HEUE :
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified B geENBE R T
to profit or loss: S EERIER -
Exchange differences on translation of BREVBHRED
financial statements PE W =% (42,022) (20,170)
ltems that will not be subsequently reclassified Hi1& T pEE 2 8 = i 7
to profit or loss: HEERIER -
Exchange differences on translation of BMERQ R BERKD
financial statements of the Company ME W ZE R (8,720) (11,267)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZ2HEWKFHALE 537,942 655,928
Total comprehensive income for the year AFE2HIKNHZAE
attributable to: EERN:
Owners of the Company RAARERFAESE 537,835 655,323
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 107 605
537,942 655,928
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

S A . 3
SAMBRRE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249128318 2023%12A31H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 FHET FETT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ERN & 13 56,980 37,146
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 43,732 10,212
Investment properties BREME 15 42,177 48,556
Intangible assets B EE 16 66,631 64,641
Investments in associates REE R RIRE 17 20,715 16,216
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H A0 e W FRIE 18 144,406 157,813
Deferred tax assets RERTBEE 10 55,824 71,389
Time deposits EHER 21 637,122 706,230
1,067,587 1,112,203
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 847,662 848,621
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEKFIE 18 574,070 574,285
Restricted cash SRR S 20 2 1
Time deposits E R 21 941,644 684,161
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 20 743,036 1,107,515
3,106,414 3,214,583
Total assets EEHAE 4,174,001 4,326,786
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

—AN LN
e BARRT
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024128310 2023%F12A31H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FEx FET
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERREE
Equity attributable to owners BERAAA
of the Company EEEERER
Share capital and premium B& AN K g (B 22 225,454 225,454
Reserves 1 2,217,802 1,893,104
2,443,256 2,118,558
Non-controlling interests FERES 27,770 27,663
Total equity ERBHE 2,471,026 2,146,221
Liabilities afs
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 13,706 4,459
Trade and other payables B 5 & H e 5K 24 97,508 371,171
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 10 46,208 44,161
Contract liabilities AHEE 5 2,748 6,123
160,170 425,914
Current liabilities nREBEE
Deferred government grants EEB T 25 22,539 57,472
Contract liabilities AHEE 5 131,481 386,633
Trade and other payables B 5 R H e 5B 24 979,385 806,139
Bank and other borrowings BIIREMEE 26 378,020 496,568
Lease liabilities HEAR 23 31,327 7,785
Income tax payable e FT BBk IR 53 54
1,542,805 1,754,651
Total liabilities EERAE 1,702,975 2,180,565
Total equity and liabilities kB ELAHE 4,174,001 4,326,786
The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to HRFMEEFMIBEZHREVNBRELESS
147 were approved and authorised for issue by the ([EEg])R2025F3H28 8 #h & R XM -
board of directors (the “Board”) on 28 March 2025 Wl RIATREEE
and are signed on its behalf by:
Sun lJie &# Chang Feng &
Director % Director %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

Attributable to owners of the Company

SERANARERER
Property Non-

Share Share Surplus  Translation  revaluation Merger Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings Total interests equity

B&  BBEE  BRER EiBE NZEGEE  aMEE  HBEE  REE B8 4BRER  FREE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL ThL ThL ThT ThT ThT ThT ThT ThT ThT
(Note 22) Note22) (Note (3)) (Note (5) ot (¢)
ez () ) (i) (Heo)

At 1 January 2023 HOBEIA1R 20299 205,155 37,105 (25,563) 16,835 (13 121) 167,682 1,946,639 1,625,625 27,058 1,652,683

Total comprefensive income 2kELE - - - (31,108) - - - 686,431 655,323 605 655,928

Payment of dividend Eike - - - - - - 162,390) - 162,390) - 162,390)

At 31 December 2023 H03E128318 20,299 205,155 37,705 (56,671) 16,835 (13121) 529 2,633,070 2,118,558 27,663 2,146,201

At 1 January 2024 051818 20,299 205,155 31,705 (56,671) 16,835 (143,121) 5202 2,633,070 2,118,558 21,663 2,146,221

Total comprefiensive income 2AkELE - - - (49,666) - - - 587,501 537,835 107 537,902

Payment of dividend Eike - - - - - - - BBy B3 - 13,13

At 31 December 2024 2045123318 20,299 205,155 31,705 (106,337) 16,835 (143,121) 5202 3,007,434 2,483,256 1,110 2,411,026

(@)  Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, a (@) WMEFBBEPBEERER  ARFRRFPRZHEB AR
portion of the profits of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries has HOaMEESREREIRNCEERESRFRES
been transferred to the enterprise expansion fund and reserve ([BERFEHED A -
fund (the “Surplus reserve”) which are restricted as to use.

(b)  The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange (b) ERRFEEREREANEBGINGEVHFRRMEEZFT
differences arising from the translation of financial statements BERZF  WIREARMAZ SHBORERE -
of the Group’'s foreign operations and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted.

() Merger reserve of HK$327,605,000 represents the difference () ABHE##E327,605,0008 LA M WEILRPEEK
between the fair value of the 608.0 million new shares of the BEFRAAREERA ([EREF]) 64.75% R A%
Company issued for settlement of the consideration for the @A EMEITHN608.08 BERARAMBRMNOARE
acquisition of a 64.75% equity interest in CEC Huada Electronic B RS T B 7T5%EARETHNEREARN =
Design Co., Ltd (“Huada Electronics”) and the 64.75% of %o A GH# 415,522,000 T A UE FEET &
paid-in capital of Huada Electronics acquired under common (ERBREEAR ([ZEI])73.43%RAEREE
control. Merger reserve of HK$415,522,000 represents the 643,928,000 AT EELRIEH T RET73.43%ELME
difference between the consideration paid of HK$643,928,000 B AN [ B AN E #4228,406,000/8 T H) = 58 o
for the acquisition of a 73.43% equity interest in Shanghai
Huahong Integrated Circuit Co., Ltd (“Huahong”) and the
73.43% of Huahong's paid-in capital and capital surplus of
HK$228,406,000 acquired under common control.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLFE

2024 2023
20245 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt it FERT FAET
Cash flows from operating EETHZRERE
activities
Cash flows generated from LEEECHERE
operations 27 356,602 978,178
Interest paid S E (36,200) (23,191)
Income tax paid SIS (45,990) (65,638)
Net cash flows generated from LBERBESE
operating activities ZBREREFE 274,412 889,349
Cash flows from investing RETZHZRERE
activities
Interest received W B ) B 39,932 33,291
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  BEKRFZE -
equipment, and intangible assets MmEEEE (90,346) (86,182)
Proceeds from disposal of property, BEE&EWZ%  BEK
plant and equipment R RIS RIE - 2
Increase in time deposits TE HiF 3k 2 1 0 (218,133) (584,328)
Dividends received WCHR B B - 234
Net cash flows used in investing KEEBTA
activities ZREREFR (268,547) (636,983)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 FET FHE T
Cash flows from financing METBH2RERE
activities
Repayment of bank and other EERITRAMBEE
borrowings (109,565) (111,089)
Dividend paid > AR B (213,137) (162,390)
Principal portion of lease payments  F &R A& 2K (23,938) (23,340)
Net cash flows used in financing BEEEFTAZ
activities REeEMEFHE (346,640) (296,819)
Net decrease in cash and ReRESEEY
cash equivalents WA EEE (340,775) (44,453)
Effect of exchange rate changes EXEBFH & (23,704) (20,780)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzReRRE
beginning of the year ZEY 1,107,515 1,172,748
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZBEERAEEEY
end of the year 20(a) 743,036 1,107,515
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

China Electronics Huada Technology Company Limited
(the "Company”) is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability. The
Company has its shares listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the Company’s
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is
China Electronics Corporation Limited (“CEC"), which
is established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the design and sale of
integrated circuit chips.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.
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MRHEHEEFMAY TREREEEBELE
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11, Bermuda °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with HKFRSs, HKASs,
Interpretations and Listing Rules

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with all applicable disclosure requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties which are carried
at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs, HKASs and Interpretations
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.1  Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations

In the current year, the Group has adopted for the first
time of all the new or amended HKFRSs and HKASs,
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants that are relevant to the
Group's operations and effective for the accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2024. The adoption of
these new or amended standards and interpretations
had no material effect on the results and financial
position of the Group and/or disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.

The following amendments to standards that are
relevant to the operation of the Group have been
issued but are not effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2024 and have not been early
adopted:

HKAS 21 (amendments)  Lack of exchangeability '

HKFRS 9 (amendments) Amendments to the classification

and HKFRS 7 and measurement of financial
(amendments) instruments 2
Annual improvements Volume 112
to HKFRSs
HKFRS 18 Presentation and disclosure in
financial statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without public

accountability: disclosures?

HKFRS 10 (amendments)  Sale or contribution of assets
and HKAS 28 between an investor and its
(amendments) associate or joint venture *

effective from 1 January 2025
effective from 1 January 2026
effective from 1 January 2027
effective date to be determined

A woN =

Management anticipates that the adoption of the
above amendments to standards will have no material
effect on the results and financial position of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2 Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
are as follows:

the shorter of 5-20 years
and the lease term

Buildings and leasehold
improvements

— Plant and machinery 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles 5-10 years
— Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years

2.3 Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and is not occupied by the
Group. Land held under operating leases are accounted
for as investment properties when the rest of the
definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted for
as if they were finance leases.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs and, where
applicable, borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each
reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based
on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for
any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If this information is not available,
the Group uses alternative valuation methods such
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted
cash flow projections. Investment property that is
being redeveloped for continuing use as investment
property or for which the market has become less active
continues to be measured at fair value. Changes in fair
values are recognised within “other income — net” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3 Investment properties (Cont’d)

The fair value of investment property reflects, among
other things, rental income from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from future leases in
light of current market conditions. The fair value also
reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could
be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it
is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and
its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes
its cost for accounting purposes. Property that is
under construction or development for future use
as investment property is classified as investment
property under construction. Where fair value of
investment properties under construction is not reliably
measurable, the property is measured at cost until the
earlier of the date construction is completed or the date
at which fair value becomes reliably measurable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3 Investment properties (Cont’d)

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property because its use has changed,
any difference resulting between the carrying
amount and the fair value of this item at the date of
transfer is recognised as a revaluation. The resulting
increase in the carrying amount is recognised in other
comprehensive income and as increases in property
revaluation reserve within equity. However, if a fair
value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the
gain is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, and the remaining part of the increase
is recognised in other comprehensive income and as
increases in property revaluation reserve within equity.
Decreases in fair value of the investment property
against the previous carrying amount are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss for any decrease in
excess of the amount included in revaluation surplus for
that investment property.

2.4 Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. These costs are amortised
over their estimated useful lives of one to five years.

2.5 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values
where there is a reasonable assurance that the
government grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions. Government grant
relating to an asset is included in non-current liabilities,
which is credited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful life of the related asset. Government grant
relating to an expense item is deferred and recognised
as income in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss over the period necessary to match with the cost
that it is intended to compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.6 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for the eligible employees in
Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee
— administered funds. The Group’s contributions to MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
have to make contributions to employee retirement
scheme managed by local government authorities in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations.
Contributions to these schemes are expensed as
incurred. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions.

Any forfeited contributions in respect of unvested
benefits of resigned employees will not be used to
reduce the Group's contributions.

(b) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonuses is recognised as a liability
when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation for payment of bonus as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.7 Revenue recognition
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. When the consideration
in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount
of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. Revenue from
transferring of goods or services is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on acceptance of the goods by
customers or where contract provides a product quality
inspection time period, the product quality inspection
time period has lapsed. The Group considers that the
control of asset is transferred to the customer at the
end of the quality inspection time period.

(b) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration (or an amount of consideration
that is due) from the customer. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.7 Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
(c) Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies

(a) Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity.

The subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year will be included in the consolidated financial
statements from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal (except for
acquisition of subsidiaries under common control
which are accounted for using the principles of merger
accounting), as appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Cont’d)
(i) Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Apart from the application of merger accounting
on common control combination, the acquisition
method of accounting is used to account for business
combination by the Group. The consideration
transferred for an acquisition is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Any
contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Acquisition-related
transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Cont’d)
(i) Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The excess of the aggregate of consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the aggregate of consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree is less than
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary in the
consolidated financial statements to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses in the Company’s
statement of financial position. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company in the
Company'’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of
dividend received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Cont’d)

(i) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners
of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount
of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

(iii) Common control combination

Merger accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries under common control by the
Group.

Under merger accounting, the consolidated financial
statements incorporate the financial statements of
the combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control of
the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are combined using the existing book values from
the controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is
recognised in consideration for goodwill or excess of
acquirers’ interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Cont’d)
(iii) Common control combination (Cont’d)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss includes
the results of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the
date when the combining entities or businesses first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and
regardless of the effective date of the common control
combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses
had been combined at the previous statement of
financial position dates or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by
those entities. All intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions between
combining entities or businesses are eliminated on
consolidation.

Transaction costs, including professional fees,
registration fees, costs of furnishing information to
shareholders, costs or losses incurred in combining
operations of the previously separate businesses, etc.,
incurred in relation to the common control combination
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

The difference between the share capital of entities
combined and the fair value of consideration paid has
been recorded in the merger reserve in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Cont’d)
(iv) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investment in associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share
of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investment in an associate
includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate,
any difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, and
its share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Consolidation (Cont’d)
(iv) Associates (Cont’d)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to “share of result of associates” in the statement of
profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(b) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) while the functional
currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB"). The
Company has adopted HK$ as its presentation currency
because the management considered it is more
beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”).

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
statement of financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals or retirement are
determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised within
“other income — net” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents the direct
costs of construction incurred in property less any
impairment losses. No provision for depreciation is
made on construction in progress until such time that
the relevant assets are completed and available for
use. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(d) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each statement
of financial position date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

(e) Financial assets

(i) Classification

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value

through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2.

2.8

(e)

(i)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective of holding financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income if both of the
following conditions are met:

90

The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective of both holding
financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows and selling.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets (Cont’d)
(i) Classification (Cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments
of principal and interest are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at
fair value through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets (Cont’d)
(i) Recognition and derecognition

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price
determined in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and either the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the financial asset or the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the financial asset, but has transferred
control of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets (Cont’d)
(iii) Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled
to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets (Cont’d)
(iv) Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12 month
ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets (Cont’d)
(iv) Impairment (Cont’d)
General approach (Cont’d)

The Group may consider a financial asset is
credit-impaired when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs.

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets (Cont’d)
(iv) Impairment (Cont’d)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

(f) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables, and bank and other borrowings.

(i) Recognition and derecognition

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(f) Financial liabilities (Cont’d)
(i) Subsequent measurement
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, bank and other borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(9) Inventories

Finished goods and work in progress are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted-average method. The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
design costs, raw materials, direct labour, manufacturing
cost of subcontractors, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less applicable variable selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
short-term time deposits with banks and other
financial institutions and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 3 months or less.

(i) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

() Current and deferred taxation

The taxation expense comprises current and deferred
taxation. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or equity.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

() Current and deferred taxation (Cont’d)
(i) Deferred taxation differences
Inside basis differences

Deferred taxation is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred taxation is not recognised
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or a liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred taxation is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial
position date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

() Current and deferred taxation (Cont’d)
(i) Deferred taxation differences (Cont’d)
Outside basis differences

Deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except
for deferred tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when there is
an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability
to control the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to
the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable
profit available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow of resources with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

() Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of resources will be required
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not provided for as a provision
but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow of
resources occurs so that the outflow is probable, they
will then be recognised as a provision.

2. EXRSTHEHRBEGE)

28 HMEBEEEASHTHREME (£)

(k) 1

AEERCHRENSHMAZRERGHIEEX
HEEME RAEAEFSENHERMENEHE
EREREKA SAFHER THRRBEE - TR
REEBIRREREE

WMELZEBUEE REFEREMNANEE
R RIFREZETHRNERERE - BIEER—
AEEEAAEaNERX—EHE M HERA
BEMEARIR - (7R RER R -

BREXRATRANXTRBRFTENEBER TN
XHREFE  ZMNERREFEHHEHEERH
BEMNE A TR ERROFTE o BE RS mE
MR IBFER ST BFX -

0 ZBERIE

FEREDRCBEENEHMAEKELNEE -
VERFAEREETHA RS HIFAKE R T
EEFOTARESMHMERRLFE - LB RE
HAREHENEHAMEENRARME  BEEAR
AEBEROFEMNL BRI AKEASEHEE
BEENSEMT TR -

SBERBEAL TR REEG  BERMBERRWMES
KE - EERAEOAIEERZME AL
BR HEREREISREE -

FEETEANKAERAA 202455% 101



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(m) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(n) Leases
(i) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Unless the
Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of
the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(n) Leases (Cont’d)
(i) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease and are measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable. As the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable,
the Group’ s incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date is used to calculate the present
value of lease payments. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to
reflect the interest on the leases liabilities and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification or a change in the lease term.

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value asset

For lease with a term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and does not contain a purchase
option (“short-term lease”) and lease of asset that are
considered to be of low value (“lease of low-value
asset”), lease payments are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2.

2.8

(o)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development

costs

that are directly attributable to the design and

testing of identifiable and unique software products
are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are met:

it is technically feasible to complete the software
product so that it will be available for use;

management intends to complete the software
product and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the software
product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product
will generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development of the software
product are available; and

the expenditure attributable to the software
product during its development can be reliably
measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of
the software product cost includes employee costs for
software development and an appropriate portion of
relevant overheads. Costs associated with maintaining
computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Summary of other potentially
material accounting policies (Cont’d)

(o) Research and development costs (Cont’d)

Other development costs that do not meet these
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as
assets are amortised using straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, which does not exceed three years.

(p) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or the Board, where appropriate.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's operations expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The foreign exchange risks of the Group occurred due
to the fact that the Group had some business activities
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group’s
business activities are primarily exposed to foreign
exchange risk in respect of exchange rate changes of
Hong Kong dollars against RMB. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. In
addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

To manage foreign exchange risk arising from future
commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities, the Group uses forward contracts, when
appropriate, to hedge anticipated cash flows in major
foreign currencies.

If Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by
5% against RMB with all other variables held constant,
the profit before taxation for the year ended 31
December 2024 would have been HK$2,281,000 lower/
higher (2023: HK$1,160,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation
of Hong Kong dollars denominated cash and cash
equivalents.

As less than 10% of the Group’s foreign currency
transactions are denominated in other foreign
currencies, the Board is of the view that foreign
exchange risk in relation to transactions denominated
in other foreign currencies is low. Therefore, no
sensitivity analysis for these currencies is presented.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
assets such as deposits held in banks and other
financial institutions. The average interest rate of
deposits held in banks and other financial institutions
at 31 December 2024 was 2.1% (2023: 2.4%) per
annum. Any change in the interest rate from time to
time is not considered to have a significant impact on
the Group’s performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Cont’d)

In addition, the Group’s interest rate risk which
affects its results and cash flows also arises from
interest-bearing liabilities such as bank and other
borrowings. The bank and other borrowings were at
fixed rates and exposed the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, all the
Group’s bank and other borrowings were borrowed at
fixed interest rates.

(c) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets net of loss
allowance as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In order to minimise the credit risk,
management of the Group has formulated a defined
credit policy and delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other control procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.

At 31 December 2024, the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment of trade receivables measured
at amortised cost. See Note 18 for the measurement
of ECLs and impairment provision of trade receivables.
For financial assets such as trade receivables, other
receivables, time deposits, and cash and cash
equivalents, they are classified within stage 1 for
measurement of ECLs as there is no significant increase

in credit risk.

3. U¥REREE(GE)

31 H¥EREEE)

(b) HERERAAEFFELR (&)

o FEAKEXERRESRE 2 M EE R IT
KEWEBE ETREBERITREMEE - R17
REMEERER  YEAEEEREARENE
VB2 o AN 5% [ 3R B X B R R E PR o A B
BEESRNEAR ABRBEREEREIHFEXN
B ) = LB

20245123318 %20235612A3318 - FiA R
SEZRITREMEEAEENREER -

(©) =B

HMXZHEFREREARRERITERS RO HE
REMEENER  AAKRBARBRNRAEE
R\ iR & RS A SR P8 B i % 5 B EE B HIERR
EEBEREE /AEFERRK/ML A5HE
EREEEHE - BERENEERRLEZR—X
ERAEETEERRE EEFHREMBERE
B AEERBETEARTAMEEHIRK -

R2024F12 8318 » AEBRIZ#HEK AT EN
EHORWRENREERESLLT L - EBEFHE
WHRENEREEEETE RRERE  F2H
BisE18 - MERMBENE 5 EWFRIA - H b fEI
FE - FHER MBELEBELESEYMS - B
REERRITENBEN  FELEABHEE
EEEE—BRA -

FEETEANKAERAA 202455%K 107



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group adopts prudent liquidity risk management,
including maintaining sufficient working capital, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed borrowing facilities and the ability to close
out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility
in funding by ensuring that sufficient committed
borrowing facilities are available.

Details of the Group’s financial liabilities by maturity
groupings analysed based on the remaining period
at the statement of financial position date to the
contractual maturity date are set out below. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows of the financial
liabilities.

3. M¥RAREEE)
31 MEBERBREZR(E)
@  EBESER

AEERABBEZRDECRRER  BREER
RHEEES BBRMIEAHRBERBARIA
REZXRAIHSAESMEEM S FREZEN °
ENHAEBBEMLEE AEERBEREH
AHBACZEARBERAE BUERESH
ez BIEE -

AEENTREBENIRAERFBEHIIOT - it
TREBEBEMBAONK B ESLDE B /R &k
ETANM - NRPBENSREBESRIRES
MR RN R ER

s
B o
>t

31 December 2024

2024F12A31H
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but
less than less than
2 years 5 years
Within 1year —f&LIE{E ZERER Total
- THB-F TEBLEE Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TR TER TET
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE 388,946 - - 388,946
Lease liabilities HERE 32,882 14,173 - 47,055
Trade and other payables B 5 R E R FIE
(excluding salary and welfare (TEERMNFHENEH
payables and other taxes REA B FIR)
payables) 814,115 109,841 53,582 977,538
1,235,943 124,014 53,582 1,413,539
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. HBREBERE)
(Cont’d)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 31 HMBEABERZ)
() Liquidity risk (Cont’d) (d) HEET R (&)
31 December 2023
2023F12A31H
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but
less than less than
2 years 5 years
Within 1 year — —% L F{B ZFNER Total
—FR THBEZF THEBLEF CEl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THET TET THET
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE 511,136 - - 511,136
Lease liabilities HERE 8,035 4,922 220 13,177
Trade and other payables B9 R E MR FIE
(excluding salary and welfare (TRERMNFH2MEH
payables and other taxes REMERAFIE)
payables) 717,663 278,989 110,348 1,107,000
1,236,834 283,911 110,568 1,631,313
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEBRERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in REEEEREERUBRRASEE 2 ERBGAISE
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern e WERBILEBRERERAERIFTAA
while maximising the return to stakeholders through HIRE AL - REEBEERBRIFENANFE
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The — B
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, AEBZEREBREER (BRERITLEME
which includes bank and other borrowings, and equity B MEEBRAARERTAEEREZR -

attributable to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

3.2 Capital risk management (Cont’d)

The Group monitors capital risk using a gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and time
deposits. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus
net debt.

The calculation of the Group's gearing ratios were
based on the following data:

3. UREREEGE)

3.2 EXERERE(E)

AEERAEAABLEREREARRAR - I X
THABETE R R AB N E - BFFRIRIE
ERFERRELRSEEY  IRBIRSMNE B
FRAE - ERBBELGAUWBIRRNKRAINTZ
BmINERFEE -

AEEZERBELERDRETIIBEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Bank and other borrowings (Note 26) SRITREMEE (Hi+26) 378,020 496,568

Lease liabilities (Note 23) MEBEHiF23) 45,033 12,244
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B -BReERBEEFEEYD

(Note 20) (K1:£20) (743,036) (1,107,515)

Restricted cash (Note 20) SR &R & (K15£20) (2) (1)

Time deposits (Note 21) TEHTFR(HaE21) (1,578,766) (1,390,391)

Net (cash) (Re)F8E (1,898,751) (1,989,095)

Total equity M BER 2,471,026 2,146,221

Total capital BARNEER 2,471,026 2,146,221

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
Group was in net cash position. In the opinion of the
Board, the Group’s capital risk is not significant.

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial instruments measured at fair value are
grouped into Levels 1 to 3, based on the degree to
which the fair value is observable, as follows:

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

MN2024F12A831H K2023F128318 » & B
BERFRERN ES2RAAEEEEAZER
B TEKX -

NARnEFfFEZeMIAREBEREAAERE
DB/ TI—E=M:

s EF-HRAfEFEDNEHEREEXABRE
BmISH 2 RECRERAEB) G -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

3.3  Fair value estimation (Cont’d)

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 fair value measurements that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation methods that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

Movements in the investment properties that are
measured at fair value during the year are set out in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents,
time deposits, restricted cash, trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) less loss allowance
for impairment, bank and other borrowings, and trade
and other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities)
approximated their respective fair values due to their
short maturities.

3. U¥REREE(GE)

3.3 2QREME(E)

s FEARAREFMEDNRE-RIAEFEM
BREZHBEN BEEEXAEBER R (BIE
%) sk (BlRERITE) IR 8IBEL -

s FZHRAAEENERECHEEXAE
ZIHABERMGEIE GEUBRE Z8E) 2fb
B ARG -

AERBARABHAEZRENEZEHUANKE
TSR M5

MN2024512 8318 K20234F 128318 - AR &
EnemEERSmEaBE (BRASKIASERE
Y EEER RRHIIRE - NBRIREEEBEE
ME S &k EMEURIE (FBANFZRIERIN - RITK
HEE MESLEMENRBECGEERAEE
BRI REEAEE  HEREERFSESAN
NARERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

4.1 Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of provision required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Group
would evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and
compare the carrying amount of inventories to their
respective net realisable value. Judgment is required
in determining such provision. If conditions which
have impact on the net realisable value of inventories
deteriorate, additional provision may be required.

4.2 Income tax and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income tax in different
jurisdictions. Estimation and judgment is required in
determining the amount of the provision for income
tax. There are transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recognised, such differences
will impact on the income tax and deferred taxation
provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

According to the relevant regulations of the corporate
income tax laws of the PRC, when the Group’s foreign
investment enterprises distribute dividends out of their
profits earned from 1 January 2008 onwards to its
shareholders outside Mainland China, such dividends
are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%. During
the year, the Board reassessed the dividend policy
of its major foreign investment enterprise, Huada
Electronics based on the Group’s current business plan
and financial position, estimated that certain earnings
generated by Huada Electronics will be eventually
distributed out of Mainland China and as such,
deferred tax liabilities in this respect was provided in
the year to the extent that such earnings are estimated
by the Board to be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

No deferred tax liability has been provided by the
Group for the earnings of HK$1,757,674,000 (2023:
HK$1,320,765,000) expected to be retained by the
subsidiaries in the PRC and not to be distributed out of
Mainland China in the foreseeable future.

4. BERESEETTRAE

41 FERE

BEEREMNFHTFEMFTNRBESEE  A5H
SHEEFENRESN Y BREFENKRAESR
HEEBMAZRFE BEEZSEBERFELH
b - MRBEFENERFEAZENBERRL -
AIRER BB IR o

42 FBHRIELZERE

AEEERTRBDAERBMAEH - REEPT
SHIERB 2RER - FEDMGE RHE - KA
BEBTEEX I NFAEDHABEERRZH
BETE - Mk FEFHRIERBFERERINIET)
HRAZELHE REZRANBEEHYERZMEN
MRELERBRBELETE -

REFBEEEMEHEANERATE  NEE 25
BB 1 3 PARR B 1A B R B A 3 DA SRR 0 e B
2008 F1ATEBELEMIEF  ZFHREBHA
10%MBHAEHR - RAFAR  BEEGERNELE
EREEBAE RV BRREFTFEETEIE
REGERERETHREBR  BtEAEBETE
EOET RN &ESEEHTPBERM - Bt A
EXSMRA AR AR EAENSER B
AEERBRELCHEARBIELRE -

AEBUYEMRTERATEMBARNRBEETER
AR ARSEEARAHEREA1,757,674,000
77T (20234 : 1,320,765,0007% 7T) &) )% F) 5 &
BEEFIEARE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.3 Provision for expected credit losses
of trade receivables

Except for certain trade receivable from customers
with specific credit risk that management adopts an
individual impairment assessment approach, the Group
uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on the past
due days for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by geographical
region, customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross
domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

4. FBAREEMEFTRME(E)

43 EBEFRVWFEEHFEBERE

REEERETRERBREGERRBENE
2 & WK TR B 40 8 B Rk 18 RF A& J7 R 5 - ARSI
RREERTEEZRUGRENFAHREEER -
BEXmAGREUBEREN T REZE DA (B
ritE BERIELFR) 2ECBHBEGE -

BRERESNERASENELBRENE - K
SEBEBHEMEEN ARABELEEBEL
B M AERERE o filgn - RR TR A9 B IR R (BNEY
NEERE) BERR—FARL  EAEER
BAOHERN BEREHXRESRAE - EXR
TH EBEXBERIMENRBEREN - LD
RIBE A ET R B 1L -

HELEBRINNEHR - TR KM M T
EEEE ENERENTHEE -—BEERNG
it BHEEFERNSBEERRNE(C LRI
RERARER - ARENELEFEBERERNK
HEEMRRN TR B A B EEAR R ARBETHNE
REABR - ARASEE S REAENTAHIE
EEENERBEBERGA B RRMZEI8 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.4 Fair value of investment properties

During the year, the Board assessed the principal
assumptions underlying management’s estimation
of fair value of investment properties of the Group.
The fair value of investment properties are assessed
annually by an independent qualified professional
valuer. The valuation is principally based on direct
comparison method and income approach by taking
into account the terms of the existing leases and
other external evidence such as current market rents
or sales evidence for similar types of properties in the
locality, and using capitalisation rates or discount rate
that reflect current market expectation for the assets
being valued. The valuation methods and significant
assumptions of investment properties are disclosed in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

4.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the statement
of financial position date. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions which are on
an arm’s length basis of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management has to estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

4. EBERSIEFRAEE)

4.4 BEWELAE

FA EESTHEEBHASEREMERIAR
BRFZEIERR BEWEZAABEEFYA
BYAERBEXMGEMEDTG ZEEETER
REBLEEZMKEZEE  2EREAYZGERR
H A HNE B - A M T 2 R AR A W) ¥ 2 IR B
MZHEESNEERY - WERARMEMEBEZE
E2REMERHAIERNL BRPFHEGFE -
BREMEZHBEHFEREABRRESGEM B RE
BIFE15R # R -

45 JFEMEERE

AREERMBIRRKRBABFEABEHFEREER
BETMREDTR - B8 B RBR KL EE WD IE
TREENREER - ABETRERND - BETR
ERE-—BREEX - RRSELABNMNEEER
BE R EEER - fJUEEERE QA ER S
EXRAEEFEREBENRSE - A EROEX
ALERFRBEEARFEENRENHRNBEER
SR RBELABENGERRLEEENE
EXRAGE - EREFEERERR A E
EXRTELEUNBARRRERE - EWMAE
HBRRERUFEZERERENRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

(a) Revenue

5. WA K2 E8E %

(@) WA

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
Sale of integrated circuit products 56 & K E IS oo
and provision of services N5 AR 7 2,348,984 3,019,120

Most of the revenue of the Group is from sale of
goods, which is recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods is transferred to the customers.

The Group has recognised contract liabilities of
HK$134,229,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$392,756,000), of which HK$131,481,000 (2023:
HK$386,633,000) is expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The contract liabilities mainly
comprise of prepayments received from customers,
to whom the control of products have not been
transferred. Contract liabilities of HK$386,633,000
at 31 December 2023 was recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$383,516,000).

(b) Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Board (the chief
operating decision maker) that are used to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Board assesses
the performance of an operating segment based on a
measure of its operating profit excluding unallocated
corporate income and expenses.

The Board considers that the Group’s business are
operated and managed as a single segment and
accordingly, no segment information is presented.

Revenues of HK$474,119,000, HK$426,037,000
and HK$299,563,000 (2023: HK$567,437,000 and
HK$507,031,000) derived from 3 (2023: 2) external
customers of the Group have exceeded 10% of the
revenue of the Group. Save as disclosed herein, no
other revenue derived from a single external customer
has exceeded 10% of the revenue of the Group.

Nearly 100% of the Group's revenue is attributable to
the market in Mainland China and over 90% of the
Group’s non-current assets are located in Mainland
China, and therefore no geographical information is
presented.

AEBRBOHBVARBHEE® - HIRBE M
R E R E BT MR ER

ANEBENR2024F12A31B BN A NAEAE
134,229,000/ 7T (20234 : 392,756,000 7T )
& H A131,481,000/% 7T (20234 : 386,633,000
BT )?EEHﬂA—ﬁMEw%%U\ aEEE
DERECWBEZTEMNRIE  mE®IZEH R
AEBEEE - 5A2023¢12H31E|E’JAZ’7 | (&
386,633,000/ L 2 R E £2024F12 A31 18 IE &
ERNRER AW A (20234 : 383,516,000/ 7T) °

(b) ZHES

EREECRBESFS (T BLERKE) CEHNE
RHERA RS BB RBHRE - HESEDH

EZgRBEZENHNTERRDENERKA
Ko s 1) 2 B s M A RHE LRI -

EXZ2ARAEBEZEBIUE
2 WA EREDBER -

\
0 H
3
S
il
Nl
il

KEAKRERH 38 (2023F 2B) N ABER
A #A474,119,0005 JT 426,037,000/ T &
299,563,0003% 7T (20234 : 567,437,000/ 7T
}507,031,0008 ) cWABBAEBE KA Z
10% - BRAX A BEEIN » WEE MK G E—H)
AETEZWRABBAEBRAZION

REEEIT100% 2 MARBRFABE AN TE B
AREBEBIBEIO% ZIEREEEMP R AN - #
IR R B R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

6. OTHER INCOME - NET

6. Hil A —F 5

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA7T

Government grants from the ordinary KB R EEB KA B
course of business 88,445 31,022

Change in fair value of investment KEMEARBEZE

properties (5,418) 61
Interest income B U A 39,932 34,460
Rental income Ha WA 621 2,401
Others Hh 2,044 1,106
125,624 69,050

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and

7. BHEISZEX

SIESHE AR  $HE K5 HE B A AN M 1T X

marketing costs and administrative expenses are ZHEAZHHOT
analysed as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHE T
Depreciation and amortisation expenses ¥ & K # §5 5 >z
(Notes 13 and 16) (Ktat13516) 65,446 62,960
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTRAEEENE
(Note 14) (HieE14) 23,013 22,366
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EERMNAX (Hit8) 352,614 337,811
Changes in inventories of finished goods &K m &k ERBTFEEH
and work in progress 105,033 174,312
Raw materials used and outsourcing FT A RME RN X
expenses 1,196,817 1,348,846
(Reversal of provision)/provision FE(EERD) BE
for inventories (Note 19) (K1aE19) (87,829) 197,899
Rental expenses for short-term leases and M EHHEEREEBEEEHEE
leases of low-value asset HeRX 255 198
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN B &
— Audit services —BZIRTE 986 2,088
- Non-audit services —EEZRE 384 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE (Cont’d)

Research and development costs recognised as
expenses and included in administrative expenses
for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
HK$447,646,000 (2023: HK$421,357,000) and mainly
comprised of employee costs of HK$252,473,000
(2023: HK$211,213,000) and material costs of
HK$93,834,000 (2023: HK$98,479,000). No research
and development costs were capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

7. RUBIDZRAX (&)

BHE2024F12A3MBEFERERBAI LA
T X M 35 & 4 38 X 7N 5447,646,0007%8 JT
(20234 : 421,357,000 70) ' EEBFEREEKA
252,473,000/ 7T (20234 : 211,213,000/ 1) &
R 493,834,000/ 7T (20234 : 98,479,000
WBIT) c MBI ZE20245F12A31BIEEER - T &
W R RABERAN T AE R (2023F : £#&) o

8. EERAEX

Year ended 31 December
HZEZ12A3MBLEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ - A EREWEF 316,860 309,915
Contributions to retirement schemes RIRETEIVEE R (A it (a) (b))

(Notes (a) and (b)) 35,754 27,896

352,614 337,811

(a) The Group operates a MPF Scheme for its
eligible employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are expensed
as incurred.

(b)  The Company's PRC subsidiaries participate
in defined contribution retirement schemes
based on the laws and regulations in the PRC.
The local government authorities of the PRC
is responsible for the pension liabilities of
these retired employees in the PRC. These PRC
subsidiaries’ contributions to the retirement
schemes in the PRC are expensed as incurred.

(a) FAEEREBFBCEREERUBESRS
g AEEYRES A ZHARNELR
FIMERIST

(b) ARAEFBEZHMBARRETBEERZR
B S EE B FCRINGTE] - REIHIT R
HBARERSTREENERE 2RKEE
£ ZEFTEMBRRYPBRRKRE
HRREERIERSL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(Cont’d)

(c) Five highest paid individuals

Total emoluments paid to the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the year are as follows:

8. EE®AMAX(E)

(0 TEZEEFMAL

FAXNTAEELEERTMA LT 2EME M
T

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ - ZEE R EWEF 4,692 3,102
Bonuses TEAL 7,947 16,206
Contributions to retirement schemes RONGT I3 1,118 1,052
13,757 20,360

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
included one director of the Company (2023: one) and
their emoluments were within the following bands:

hEAmEETFMALTBE—R (2023F : —F) AR
AEEMEEZMEN FUATEHE :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000 7T 2 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T —3,000,0005% 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7t — 3,500,0005% 7T 3 =
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 £ — 5,000,000 7T, - 2
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 JT — 6,000,000 JT - 1
5 5

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

RAFER  ANEBELEA DR K=HFHA LT
BN & 15 45 00 B2 7N 5= (B 5 N B R 5% B B 2 28 R 3k
1ERBEEZRE -

118 China Electronics Huada Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9. FINANCE COSTS - NET

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE
9. ®ERLX-FH

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance costs =D N
— Interest expense on borrowings —BEZNEXZH 18,060 23,264
— Interest expense on lease liabilities —HEABZMEXZH 2,004 695
— Interest expense arose from —BERRBERELEZ
guarantee deposits received MEXH 18,246 18,635
38,310 42,594
Finance income & WA
— Interest income on cash and cash -RehkReEEBY
equivalents R B U A (6,679) (11,700)
— Interest income arose from -BENREEEEZ
guarantee deposits paid B U A (8,416) (10,129)
(15,095) (21,829)
Finance costs — net BB A — & 23,215 20,765
10. TAXATION 10. HBiIE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLtLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F& 7T
Current taxation NEE IR
— PRC corporate income tax —FhEPEMERH 10,269 65,488
— Withholding tax on distributed profits —BE D BLE A 2 B FTE
(Note (c)) (H1a(c)) 17,540 150
27,809 65,638
Deferred taxation BRI
— PRC corporate income tax —HEEMERH 14,242 (27,265)
— Withholding tax on undistributed profits — K% Bt M 2 B FT1E
(Note (c)) (Kt it(c)) 3,039 10,927
17,281 (16,338)
Taxation I8 45,090 49,300
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

10.
(a)

(b)

(c)

120

TAXATION (Cont’d)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax had
been made as the Group did not generate any
assessable profit in Hong Kong for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

In accordance with the relevant regulations
of the corporate income tax laws of the
PRC, the applicable statutory tax rate of
Huada Electronics and Huahong is 25%.
Nevertheless, since Huada Electronics qualified
as an "Integrated Circuit Design Enterprise
in National Planning Layout” and Huahong
qualified as a “High and New Technology
Enterprise” for the year ended 31 December
2024, Huada Electronics and Huahong have
adopted a preferential tax rate of 10% and
15% respectively for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: a preferential tax
rate of 10% and 15% respectively). Based
on management’s self-assessment and their
track record of success in obtaining such
types of qualifications, it is highly likely that
Huada Electronics and Huahong will qualify
as an “Integrated Circuit Design Enterprise in
National Planning Layout” and as a “High and
New Technology Enterprise” respectively after
the year ended 31 December 2024 and thus
will enjoy a preferential tax rate of 10% and
15% respectively.

According to the relevant regulations of the
corporate income tax laws of the PRC, when
the Group’s foreign investment enterprises
distribute dividends out of their profits
earned from 1 January 2008 onwards to its
shareholders outside Mainland China, such
dividends are subject to withholding tax at a
rate of 10%.

10.
(a)

(b)

(c)

B (&

BN AR EBNE E2024F12A318 IEFE
EREBTEELTMERTERN &I
WL B BFNE T B (20234 - ) o

BREFECEMSHREZNE@BRTE =

BEFRETCZEBETEHREB25% °
R BREE2024FE 128318 ILEE
ERETFTHBIBEREEMHBHANEKE K
RETEIER MEWHS [ FH R0
TEIER AREREFRELINESR
2024F12A31B L FE D AIEFE#H10% K&
15% 2 B E 5 E(2023F : D31 E10% Kk
15% 2 BEMEK) - ENBTEENBE KT
HARBERINEBZERNER  REZ
2024F12A31B L EE 2% EAE
FEMBRAIEDRIESBERREH D
NEKBERADEIER R BN
TEIEELEMBE DB ZEX10%K%15%
ZBERE o

BIBEFRCEMESRENBEBARE  ~&%
B Z NI E 1D 2 DARR B A H A B A b A
SN ER Bt B2008F 1 H1H R E £/ &
A ZERBBEMN10%NFBIFEEH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. TAXATION (Cont‘d)

(d) Reconciliation between the taxation on (d)
the Group’'s profit before taxation and the

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

10. H®iE (&

theoretical taxation that would arise using the
respective applicable statutory tax rates is as

follows:

ZREBIBR B A A 2 B IR ELE A & B E A
EEMEMEH 2 ERVIAILERAT

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Profit before taxation B £ B A 633,774 736,665
Taxation calculated at respective REBEREEMEFE

applicable statutory tax rates Z HIE 158,443 188,732

Effect of tax concession B % < & (80,897) (112,035)
Research and development costs i 7¢ K B 8 B AR BR AN BR

additional deductions (50,173) (47,607)

Income not subject to tax BARTUA (5,773) (296)

Expenses not tax deductible LR 1,427 853

Withholding tax on distributed profits B 72 Bla N R AFE

and current year's undistributed profits Ao B N 2 I FT IS 20,583 11,077
Tax losses for which no deferred tax WHERERELEHBEEEZ

asset was recognised HIEE B - 7,968

Others Hh 1,480 608

Taxation I8 45,090 49,300
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE B mRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F 12 A31B It FE
10. TAXATION (Cont’d) 10. BE(E&
(e) Deferred taxation (e) EZEHIE
The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities MAET RIBIHRE — IR 2 8k FRIELER
during the year without taking into consideration the BEERBBEZZSHWT :
offsetting of balances with the same taxation authority
are as follows:
Impairment
of trade
and other
Salary and receivables
welfare Deferred  and others
Provision for payables government EZREM
inventories EfES grants EKHE Total
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE FERE NER BERNED  HEMNHM &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET TAT TET TAT
At 1 January 2023 R2023%181H 12,659 71,262 6,581 25,799 52,301
Exchange differences i EE (316) (110) (100) (365) (891)
Credited to the statement of profit or loss BeBER 20,328 987 826 2,915 25,056
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A318 32,671 8,139 7,307 28,349 76,466
At 1 January 2024 R2024%181H 32,671 8,139 1,307 28,349 76,466
Exchange differences 5 EE (393) (170) (98) (1,485) (2,146)
Charged to the statement of profit or loss SABRR (8,597) (328) (4,086) (2,006) (15,017)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%512 8318 23,681 7,641 3,123 24,858 59,303
Withholding
Fair value tax on
gains and undistributed
others profits
D RERE E Total
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEBESGE MEM ZFEHNFREH =Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FTAHAT THET
At 1 January 2023 120231818 7,353 33,789 41,142
Exchange differences fEH =% (67) (555) (622)
(Credited)/charged to the statement of profit (%), st ABHR
or loss (2,209) 10,927 8,718
At 31 December 2023 720235128318 5,077 44,161 49,238
At 1 January 2024 7202451H18 5,077 44,161 49,238
Exchange differences fEHZ% (823) (992) (1,815)
(Credited)/charged to the statement of profit (%)t ABHE
or loss (775) 3,039 2,264
At 31 December 2024 7120245128318 3,479 46,208 49,687

122
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

10. TAXATION (Cont’d)
(e) Deferred taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 after taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances with the same taxation
authority for financial reporting purposes are as
follows:

10. BB (&
(e) EEHHE(Z)
MN2024%12A31H Kk2023F12A318 » g 81 %

ERBOME - &t REHER —RIGHEE 2 &5
® BREHEEERABHOT

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024%12H831H 2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

Deferred tax assets REETIEE E 55,824 71,389
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE (46,208) (44,161)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carrying forwards to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through the future taxable
profits is probable. At 31 December 2024, the Group
did not recognise deferred tax assets of HK$8,072,000
(2023: HK$26,960,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to HK$73,131,000 (2023: HK$149,518,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable
income. Tax losses of HK$57,959,000 has no expiry
date (2023: HK$122,587,000), and HK$15,172,000 will
expire within 10 years (2023: HK$26,931,000).

BERBEEDRAE 2 HIBBBMEER -
B ATREE B AR 2 RS M E IR G @F E A
AR o 2024512318 » KEBE W A A] 45
A R R ERTUR M 2 B IHE51E73,131,000
77T (20234 : 149,518,000 JT) M 2 IR i 72
15 & 78,072,000/ 7T (20234 : 26,960,000/%
JC) ° 57,959,000/ 7t 2 %t I8 & 18 W & 5w B 2
(20234 : 122,587,000/ 75) * iM15,172,000/%8
TEAE R 10E A fEim (20234 : 26,931,000 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

11. PROPOSED DIVIDEND

11. BERE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHT

Proposed dividend EERE 182,688 213,137

The Board recommends the payment of a dividend of
HK9.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK10.5 cents per share). The proposed
dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. The proposed dividend of
HK$182,688,000 (2023: HK$213,137,000), calculated
based on the Company’s number of shares issued at
28 March 2025, is not recognised as a liability in the
consolidated financial statements.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based
on the following data:

EECEEMEE2024F12A31B L FERNE
f%9.07%8 1l (20234 : HR%10.581L) B 8 ° ;%%
R B BAEANREERRBFERE FEFSAR
A% R A H#E A o IRIZA A R R2025%3 H28H E’JE
BITRME B T E R EZRE182,688,000% T
(20234 : 213,137,000/ o) I & R 454 B 75 3R
XAERE—BERE-

12. BRER
FRERAF RS TS E

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
202445 20234
Profit for the year attributable to BERAARERREELZ
owners of the Company (HK$'000) RKEZ M (FHET) 587,501 686,431
Weighted average number of ordinary BT SRR INGE
shares in issue T8 R 2,029,872,000 2,029,872,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) A% EE A Z F) GBAL) 28.94 33.82

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the
Company did not have any potential dilutive ordinary
share outstanding.

R AR B EAE R BT B EE I B A
WA EREFREERF -

124  china Electronics Huada Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S A =
e BHRRHE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024F 12 A318 It FE
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BEKRRHE
Buildings and
leasehold
improvements Plant and Motor Furniture ~ Construction
BFR  machinery vehicles ~ and fixtures in progress Total
HENEZE HERHE B§  GRR%E TEIR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Cost S
At 1 January 2023 R02E1A18 82,939 109,529 5,753 33,968 - 232,189
Additions RE 841 9,064 = 5423 846 16,174
Adjustment on cost RAER (2,647) = (44) = = (2,691)
Disposals RE - (7,676) = (2,785) = (10,461)
Exchange differences ERER (1,027) (1,574) (82) (650) (6) (3,339)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%128318 80,106 109,343 5,627 35,956 840 231,872
At 1 January 2024 R2024%1R18 80,106 109,343 5,627 35,956 840 231,872
Additions RE 456 14942 - 9,715 12,958 38,071
Transfer upon completion w18k 7,656 3175 - 2,962 (13,793) -
Disposals RE - (1,520) (718) (3,905) - (6,143)
Exchange differences EREE (1,831) (2,478) (110) (1,000) (5) (5,424)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%128318 86,387 123,462 4,799 43,728 - 258,376
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERRE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1A18 (69,112) (91,257) (5,205) (22,589) - (188,163)
Depreciation & (8,736) (6,34) (123) (4,054) - (19,747)
Disposals RE - 7,667 - 2,767 - 10,434
Exchange differences EXEE 1,046 1,298 75 331 - 2,750
At 31 December 2023 H2023%128317 (1680 (89,126) (6253  (23549) - (194,726)
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 718 (76,802) (89,126) (5,253) (23,545) - (194,726)
Depreciation ik (3.784) (6,841) (126) (6,149) - (16,900)
Disposals RE 31 1,494 10 3,669 - 5,904
Exchange differences EHER 1,698 1,984 102 542 - 4,326
At 31 December 2024 H204%5128318 (78857)  (92.489) (@567)  (25483) - (201,3%)
Net book amount BEFE
At 31 December 2024 R2024%128318 7,530 30,973 232 18,245 - 56,980
At 31 December 2023 R2023%128318 3,304 20,217 374 12,411 840 37,146

Depreciation expense of HK$693,000 (2023:
HK$1,213,000), HK$895,000 (2023: HK$1,076,000)
and HK$15,312,000 (2023: HK$17,458,000) has been
charged to selling and marketing costs, cost of sales and
administrative expenses, respectively.

#1 & B X 1693,000/8 7T (20234 : 1,213,000/
JC) * 895,000 7T (20234 : 1,076,000/ 7T) &
15,312,000/ 7T (20234 : 17,458,000/ 7T) E 9
RIET ASEE RTHIGHEKA « $HEKAMITHFA

o

HEEFEARNKERDE 2024FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

14. FHEEE

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Beginning of the year F9 10,212 33,124
Exchange differences PE X Z==E (713) (323)
Additions NE 62,957 2,972
Depreciation e (23,013) (22,366)
Reductions B (5,711) (3,195)
End of the year FR 43,732 10,212
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. BEWYHE
Year ended 31 December

BZE12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Beginning of the year F1 48,556 49,199
Exchange differences PE 3 =58 (961) (704)
Changes in fair value NRAEEE (5,418) 61
End of the year FR 42,177 48,556

(a)

126

These investment properties are located in the
PRC and are subject to various tenancies with
terms ranging from 1 year to 3 years.

The rental income from investment properties for
the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
HK$621,000 (2023: HK$2,401,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2024 have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on that date by Watson (Beijing) International
Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd, an independent
qualified property valuer. The valuation was
principally based on direct comparison method
and income approach by taking into account
the terms of the existing leases and other
external evidence such as current market rents
or sales cases for similar types of properties
in the locality, and using capitalisation rates
or discount rate that reflect current market
expectation for the assets being valued.

(a) ZEREBEYFEROUNTEL AN EIFHZ
ZIHMORA -

(b) RNEE2024FE 128318 ILEE %A Y
(ML YW A AE621,0005 7T (20234 -
2,401,000/ 75) °

() REBKEMEN2024F12831H 2 A
RENREBY S ERYELEMARRHF
(k) R EEFEERARRZA#ET
ZEESY  c ZHETEEREELEL
ML - 2R AR 2GR K E M)
EFEE - KT 2h R fE R ¥ 2 2 IR
MSHESHEERS - W B RS T
BEvBEEZREMBEH 2 ER TR
IR RS -
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)
(Cont’d)

At 31 December 2024, the fair value
measurements of the Group’'s investment
properties were all categorised into Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy. Details of fair value
hierarchy classification are set out in Note 3.3
to the consolidated financial statements. There
were no transfers of fair value measurements
into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Management of the Group works with Watson
(Beijing) International Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd
to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation methods and inputs for Level 3 fair
value measurements. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the assets, the causes
of the fluctuation will be reported to the Board.

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) is as follows:

Fair value at 31
December 2024 Valuation

Unobservable

15. REWE(E)
() (#&)

R2024F 128318 REEFEIKRED
(¥NARENEHEEALARBERRIER
ME=H - RAERFIRBHDEFBFH
REEMIERRMEIZIN - REFER » %
EREMEVEAABIFEEANELE
=

AEEEEBERRHKR (R BREE
AHEAERARRFAELNEEBESE =&
ZAREFENGBETEANGE EEE
AAEHREAES  BKAEFSERK
FHREA -

5 B B A OB A BLER 7 BUF (B =) (E AR (B3
EEHMT -

Range/weighted Relationship of
average of unobservable inputs to
unobservable inputs fair value

Description 2024512831 method(s) inputs EUEECHEE BUBRCEBEARE
#15 ADRE ®EFE BUEECHE B/ METLHE HER
HK$’000
THERT
Office building — 41,745 Direct Market price RMB34,099 The higher the market
Beijing comparison T ERK per square metre  price, the higher the
MAE-—IER method YAk fair value
BEELBE AER#34,0097T mHEBEERER AR
e
Carparks — Beijing 432 Income Discount rate, 5.0%, The higher the discount
EEf—tR approach rental RMB800/month/  rate, the lower the fair
&= WRE 4 each carpark  value; the higher the

5.0% ' rental, the higher the
AER¥8007,/ B,/ fairvalue
BEEFEEMN HREMYE  AAER
K HedE 2AE
A=)
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eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. EFEE

Computer

software

EEIg e

HK$'000
FET

Year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F12A31B L E
Opening net book amount FYREFEE 23,410
Exchange differences EHER (613)
Additions NE 85,057
Amortisation 5 (43,213)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 64,641
At 31 December 2023 7#2023%F12831H
Cost B 7R 106,706
Accumulated amortisation 25T 5 (42,065)
Net book amount BREFE 64,641
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE2024F12831BLEE
Opening net book amount FYIREFE 64,641
Exchange differences X =5 (1,434)
Additions NE 52,275
Disposals & (305)
Amortisation 5N (48,546)
Closing net book amount FARBREFE 66,631
At 31 December 2024 A2024%12H31H
Cost X 7 155,642
Accumulated amortisation Sty (89,011)
Net book amount SRHEFE 66,631

Amortisation expense amounting to HK$48,546,000
(2023: HK$43,213,000) has been charged to research
and development costs under administrative expenses.

#: $H 5 248,546,000/ 7T (20234 : 43,213,000
BIL) BEETATTEFA Y IE N 25 K FHEK AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. REZEQATRE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHT

Beginning of the year F9 16,216 16,514
Share of results eG4 (71) 173
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate 18 {EHH & — R B & A 7]k 25 4,988 -
Exchange differences PE W =58 (418) (237)
Dividend A% &, - (234)
End of the year FR 20,715 16,216

The Group has representative in the board of
directors of Beijing Chipadvanced Technology Inc.
("Chipadvanced”) and is participating in the financial
and operating policy decisions of Chipadvanced. In the
opinion of the Board, Chipadvanced is an associate of
the Group as the Group has significant influence over
Chipadvanced even though the Group holds less than
20% of the voting rights of Chipadvanced. On 24 June
2024, the Group’s interest in Chipadvanced was diluted
from 7.29% to 3.31% as a result of Chipadvanced
issuing 69,686,409 new shares to certain investors,
with one of them being a connected person of the
Company, for proceeds of RMB399,999,988 (the
“Dilution”). The Group recognised a gain on deemed
disposal of an associate of HK$4,988,000 in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as a result of
the Dilution.

The fair value of the Group's interest in Chipadvanced
at 31 December 2024 based on the closing price of
RMB6.50 per Chipadvanced share as quoted on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange on 31 December 2024 was
HK$29,614,000.

ZkﬁlﬁAit?ﬁ&?ﬂﬁzﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁE 7 ([FEZ))
LEESRAENREK  URHABT B RELEH
RAK EZSRF BEASERERLIRN
0% EE - HEHRRAEBHBELZEEATE
7 EAZEE;U%KEIZ#%/AT M2024%6 A
248 AR ELXREEREE (EP—UKEE
BARNFREEA L) 2 1769,686,4000% 37 A% 15
LAESFIB A R#399,999,9887T * NEBNEL
BIREZSFR7.29% 8 E331% ([#8]) - K&EE
A#EmRasEaRERRELE—FHBEA
7] U %54,988,00078 T °

REBABL ZERN2024F12A31B 2 AR E
/29,614,000 7T + iR BT REL R 7D 112024
F12ANBELEBESFRZFAARCBKTEAR
#6507 HE o
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e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

17.
(Cont’d)

Details of the associate at 31 December
are as follows:

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

17.

2024 and 2023

7‘ o

TN
3= A

REERNERE (&)

Bl FA20244F M2023F12A318 2 1B W0

Interest held by the Group

Place of establishment  Principal place of rEEfEER
Name and type of legal entity  operation and activities Paid-in capital 2024 2023
28 RUBKREZZEREE IEEBRRREH BEhEX 20245 2023%F
Chipadvanced PRC, limited liability Mainland China, provision of RMB127,593,790 3.31% 7.29%
BZ company integrated circuit testing (2023

TE AREERT services RMB57,907,381)

PRI REERERAA  AKK127,593, 7907
R (2023 : AR¥%
57,907,3817)

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the M2024F12 431 B RS BN E R RIM R IR

Group'’s interest in associate at 31 December 2024

BN EBE(2023F : £) o

(2023: nil).
18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. EBEZ K HMEWRIE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20244%12831H 2023912 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 WA 411,853 377,663
Less: Loss allowance for Jic ORVE SRR (Mt b))
impairment (Note (b)) (61,687) (62,671)
Trade receivables — net BRI RIE—F58 350,166 314,992
Other receivables from third parties H b % =5 FKIA 190,332 224,862
Less: Loss allowance for Ji OB SRR E (M)
impairment (Note (c)) (3.211) (3,452)
Other receivables from third parties Hfth fE UL ZE = 75 ;IE — %58
— net 187,121 221,410
Other receivables from related parties  E i & Y [ Hs 75 5K 18
(Note 30) (B1a#30) 12,066 17,284
Undeducted input value-added tax RAOBR B TH I B B
and prepaid tax SSENNE TR 104,744 124,637
Prepayments and deposits BRREBERES 64,379 53,775
718,476 732,098
Less: non-current receivables Ji IR B FE MR IR (144,406) (157,813)
574,070 574,285
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e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Cont’d)

Trade and other receivables were unsecured and
interest-free. Included in the balance of trade
receivables are trade receivables from related parties
of HK$29,107,000 (2023: HK$39,206,000) (Note
30). Included in the balance of other receivables from
third parties are guarantee deposits to suppliers of
HK$141,570,000 (2023: HK$216,110,000). Included
in the balance of prepayments and deposits are
prepayments to related parties of HK$20,000 (2023:
HK$52,000) (Note 30).

Trade and other receivables of the Group at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were denominated in the
following currencies:

18. EFRHMEWRE (Z)

BoREMBEBWRRELHAEERAREE 5T A
BORKFELEBRNNBH A ESEKFIES
29,107,000 7t (20234 : 39,206,000 7v) (A
230) T AREMEWRE=ZFRBLEHLANS
HEEHIRESD A141,570,0005% 7T (20234 :
216,110,000/ 7T) « st ATBT RIBE R IZ € & #
R K B8 B 5 T8 15 218 20,0005 7T (20234 -
52,0008 7T) (#13230) °

ANE B R2024F K2023F12A31H 28 5 M A
thER IR EEESMT ¢

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

20249128310 2023412A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FETT

Renminbi AR ¥ 717,716 7/81 595
Hong Kong dollars AT 760 503
718,476 732,098

(a) The majority of the Group’s sales are with (a) REEZHEXTE D ZEEH A30HE

credit terms of 30 days to 180 days. The
remaining sales are due immediately after the
delivery of goods or provision of services. The

180H ' EBHERERE R Mgt
IRISHE | HE - IRIRBZHHIZ PN E 5 fE
W8 (IR EE BB E) MR DT

ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss (N
allowance for impairment) by invoice date is as
follows:
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249128318 2023512H31H
HK$'000 HK$°000
THET THETT
Within 30 days 308 A 120,825 64,782
31 days to 60 days 31H £60H 117,591 94,185
61 days to 180 days 61HZ180H 108,846 152,897
Over 180 days and within 1 year 180 A ER1ER 93 548
Over 1 year TF A L 2,811 2,580
350,166 314,992
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e MR WRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. BZRHMEWKIEZ)
(Cont’d)
(b) Movements in the loss allowance for (b) AEEEFHERFBRESEREZE
impairment of the Group’s trade receivables are (N
as follows:
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Beginning of the year F 9] 62,671 64,860
Impairment losses/(net reversal of BEEE
impairment losses) CREE 18 F# M) 363 (1,271)
Exchange differences PE W =% (1,347) (918)
End of the year FR 61,687 62,671

132

At 31 December 2024, the gross carrying
amount of trade receivables measured at
amortised cost was HK$209,368,000 (2023:
HK$131,224,000), of which HK$146,123,000
(2023: HK$66,267,000) was within one year
with expected credit loss rate of 0.7% (2023:
0.5%), HK$2,930,000 (2023: HK$3,042,000)
was between one year to five years with
expected credit loss rate ranging from 5.6% to
11.0% (2023: ranging from 15.1% to 100.0%),
HK$17,969,000 (2023: HK$18,360,000) was
over five years with expected credit loss rate of
100.0% (2023: 100.0%), and HK$42,346,000
(2023: HK$43,555,000) was from customers
with specific credit risk with expected credit loss
rate of 100.0% (2023: 100.0%).

R2024F 12318 @ BB EK AT EH
H 5 e W A BR T 48 /&209,368,000/%8
7t (20234 : 131,224,000/ 7T) » H b
146,123,000/ 7t (20234 : 66,267,000
BIC) B1FERN BHEEBIEBEXRAE0T%
(20234 : 0.5%) ' 2,930,000/8 T (2023
3,042,000/ 7T) B1FEESF - FEHE
EEEXNF5.6%%11.0% (20234 :
N F15.1%2100.0% ) ' 17,969,000/
7t (20234 : 18,360,000 JT) A5 LA
F EHEEBEEXK100.0% (2023
% :100.0%) ' 42,346,000/ 7T (2023
% : 43,555,000 L) RERBRERFE
ERHOEYR  BEHEEBEEXAE100.0%
(20234 : 100.0%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. EFRHMEWRE (Z)

(Cont’d)
(c) Movements in the loss allowance for () REBHMEWRIBREBERE &
impairment of the Group’s other receivables are w
as follows:
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FETT
Beginning of the year F1) B 3,452 4,512
Net reversal of impairment losses B &5 18 B (168) (1,002)
Exchange differences PE X Z=%E (73) (58)
End of the year FR 3,211 3,452

Other receivables are mainly rental deposits,
deposits to suppliers and advance to employees.
Majority of the above balances relate to receivables
for which there was no recent record of default. In
the situation where no companies with comparable
credit ratings can be identified, expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record
of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the

HERZRBEETEAHASKS  AHEDR
MiRE R EE FKIE » LA EREBD 454
R R R RSk EIR B AR - £
ELABREMELEEFAORRMNBER
T BHREEREAAERZ2EAEEB
FEERENERER A RETEET - B8
R VB SR A S BR IR 1T A S N o TR A 57
AR B TEORI o 1t 55 B UK SR TH FA20244F 12
A31HATERANEERAE1.6% (20234F

current conditions and forecasts of future economic 1.4%) °
conditions. The loss rate applied for such receivables
at 31 December 2024 was 1.6% (2023: 1.4%).
19. INVENTORIES 19. #®FE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249128318 2023412A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT
Work in progress & 241,643 302,395
Finished goods UK am 606,019 546,226
847,662 848,621

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and
included in cost of sales amounted to HK$1,301,850,000
(2023: HK$1,523,158,000).

Reversal of provision for inventories of HK$87,829,000
(2023: provision for inventories of HK$197,899,000), as
a result of sales made from processed and modified fully
impaired slow-moving inventories during the year, has
been included in cost of sales.

BREASITFABEER A ZTFTEXREN A
1,301,850,000/ 7T (20234 : 1,523,158,000/8
JC) °

AFENHSEEMTREN2HERERHETE
i 1 i #) /& 287,829,000/ 7t /) 17 & 1 &5 # [0l
(2023% : 197,899,000 T fF BB MH) B 5 A
SHERA
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e MEmRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F 12 A31B It FE
20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 200 RERFASEEYPNZIRHEES
AND RESTRICTED CASH
(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a) HBReRBLEEY
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249128318 20239F12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Cash He
At banks and on hand WITHETERE 388,078 670,309
At other financial institutions Hih B i i 45 17
— A related party (Note 30) — @t (#7a£30) 96,452 103,169
— Others —H A - 233
484,530 773,711
Short-term time deposits (Note (i) 52 HATE BATE SR (M1 32(3))
At bank RITHET 258,506 2450575
At other financial institutions HA M BB T
— A related party (Note 30) — A (1 iE30) - 88,279
258,506 333,804
743,036 1,107,515
(i) Short-term time deposits represent deposits with original (i) RETEHEARDERINBABEAMEASUT ZER
maturity of 3 months or less.
(b) Restricted cash (b) ZFRHEBES
At 31 December 2024, cash of HK$2,000 (2023: 20245124318 » AR R 1T 2 3 £2,000%8
HK$1,000) was held at banks mainly as security for 70 (20234 : 1,000870) T EABIT A HEE 2
bank acceptance bills. R o
21. TIME DEPOSITS 21. EHEX
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249128318 20234 12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHETT
At banks RITHET 940,565 838,648
At other financial institutions HA M BB a1
— A related party (Note 30) — @t (B75£30) 638,201 551,743
1,578,766 1,390,391
Less: non-current time deposits B BB T BER (637,122) (706,230)
941,644 684,161
Time deposits represent deposits with original maturity EHEFERDERIPBAIEAU EZTFRK -
over 3 months. The effective interest rate on these R2024F12A318 ' ZEGRZEREF R A
deposits at 31 December 2024 was 2.1% (2023: 2.4%) 2.1% (20234 : 2.4%)
per annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F 124318 It FE
22. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM 22. RAEREE
Ordinary share of
HK$0.01 each
EREECOIBIZERR
Issued and Share
Authorised fully paid  Share capital premium Total
EE ERTRER R R RE CLi
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TER TER TRET
At 1 January 2023, ®2023F1R18 >
31 December 2023, 2023F12A318 >
1January 2024 and  2024F181BK
31 December 2024 20245128311 30,000,000 2,029,872 20,299 205,155 225,454
23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HE&E
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Beginning of the year F 4 12,244 35,563
Exchange differences MEHER (745) (356)
Interest on the lease liabilities HEBGENE 2,004 695
New leases g E 62,939 3,232
Reductions A (7,471) (3,550)
Lease payments HE K (23,938) (23,340)
End of the year FR 45,033 12,244
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RIERBOBDTAT :
Current portion ik 2k %) 31,327 7,785
Non-current portion JEMENED 1D 13,706 4,459
45,033 12,244
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24, BEZRHEHMEMNFIE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

20245128318 20234 12H31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THET

Trade payables Z 5N RIE 416,869 390,463

Other payables to related parties H b j& 1 B Bk 75 :RIE

(Note 30) (Bt7E30) 74,853 60,778

Salary and welfare payables FE 1~ 7 & M 1& 5 98,576 104,343

Other taxes payables H h & A< 3¢ 18 9,386 3,472
Other payables and accrued expenses  ELftf J& < 5IE K J& 51 5 52

(Note (a)) (K1at(a)) 477,209 618,254

1,076,893 1,177,310

Less: non-current payables J8 ¢ JE R B FE S SRIE (97,508) (371,171)

979,385 806,139

(a) Other payables and accrued expenses mainly (a) HtENRBEREARAXEZRENAR

represented payables for software usage fees
for the purposes of research and development
and sales commissions, and guarantee
deposits received. Included in the balance
of other payables and accrued expenses are
guarantee deposits received from customers of
HK$295,940,000 (2023: HK$331,789,000).

The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date is
as follows:

FoE R F % B &2 B A B M HE &
T MEKRREFE - st AHMRENRER
BARAXBERAZERBEENRES R
295,940,0007% 7T (20234 : 331,789,000
EITT) e

RIBBRZBHZ2INE RN RIANRE D0

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

20245128318 20235F12H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Within 30 days 308 A 182,969 158,273
31 days to 60 days 31HZE60H 130,117 73,971
Over 60 days 60H A _E 103,783 158,219
416,869 390,463

Included in the balance of trade payables are trade
payables to related parties of HK$89,522,000 (2023:
HK$62,399,000) (Note 30).

AESEMNZRELEGAN BB T ESENK
18 /89,522,000 7T (20234F : 62,399,000/ 7T)
(B15£30) -
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e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

25. DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLEE

25.

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Beginning of the year F9) 57,472 51,046
Exchange differences PE X = RE (737) (778)
Additions 0 3,706 8,186
Credited to the statement of profit or loss Bz * (37,902) (982)
End of the year FR 22,539 57,472

Government grants represent various grants received
from local government authorities for financing various
research and development projects conducted by the
Group. These grants will be recognised as income over
the period necessarily to match them with the cost that
they are intended to compensate.

I 8 BY HE L B B AR R EE 1T R B R BT T AN A 3
HE AT BAEERRENSEME) - 25
Bhi§ I — E BIE AR AU - AR B R E T LA
TR ©

26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. WRITREMEE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249F12831H 2023412A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FETT
Loans from a shareholder (Note 30) PR E K (B 7E30) 313,161 430,359

Entrusted loans from related parties A EEER

(Note 30) (Hi#30) 64,859 66,209
378,020 496,568

All the bank and other borrowings of the Group
were denominated in Renminbi, due within one year,
unsecured and borrowed at fixed interest rates. The
average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
and other borrowings at 31 December 2024 was 3.8%
(2023: 3.9%) per annum.

FRBARE 2 RITREMEEGUAAREE -
R—FREH SEEREUABEMNEEE - R

2024128318 REBFETAEMEENFY
BERFFEE3.8%(2023F :3.9%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

27. CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM 27. BEE4XCZHEERE
OPERATIONS
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit before taxation Bk £ BT A 633,774 736,665
Adjustments for: FHE -
Depreciation of property, plant M- BELRBITE
and equipment 16,900 19,747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 23,013 22,366
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEEHE 48,546 43,213
Interest income A B U A (39,932) (34,460)
Interest expenses FEX 20,064 23,959
Loss on disposal of property, BREWME  BELFZE
plant and equipment and EREMNELEE
intangible assets 544 8
Gain on disposal of lease REEMEWH (1,760) (95)
Share of result of an associate B — B E R R X8 71 (173)
Gain on deemed disposal of RIEHE —HH & AR
an associate (4,988) -
Impairment losses/(net reversal of B 5 & H b FE Y KIA
impairment losses) on trade and BEEE, OB
other receivables B8 F ) 195 (2,273)
(Reversal of provision)/provision for BE (BERR) #E
inventories (87,829) 197,899
Changes in fair value of REMERAEBEE
investment properties 5,418 (61)
614,016 1,006,795
Changes in working capital LEEEH
Inventories rE 70,625 (174,313)
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e U FiIE 32,243 191,824
Deferred government grants IR E BT 18 B (33,703) (982)
Contract liabilities SRHEE (250,121) 8,655
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H Mg KIA (76,457) (87,399)
Restricted cash X R HIR e (1) 33,598
Cash flows generated from operations ZEBELZASRE 356,602 978,178
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

28. LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessor
The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease payments

receivables under non-cancellable operating leases are
as follows:

28. HEXRIE
AEBEAEHBEA

AREBERBENA R 2 EREMNARKREWR 2
REHERABELT :

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20245128318 2023%412H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Within one year 1R 2,633 2,599
After one year but within two years FIFEREE2FRN 2,633 2,599
After two years but within three years F2F & EFE3FR 1,753 =
7,019 5,198

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 29. HBARE

The Group did not have any material contingent liability
at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

R2024F 128318 AEBEUEEREANSE S
& (20234 : &) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES

In addition to those transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following significant
transactions in the ordinary course of business with

related parties during the year:

30.

BT X5 R AR

BRRAGEMBRREMTNERENRS MG
RAFEAAREER A REH EBERT
ETTNIERRS

ERON -

(a) Significant transactions with related (d) EBEHEBAEZEAXRS
parties
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FATT
CEC and companies under FEEFEER
common control of CEC SHHAFZEHZAT
Sale of products and services HE E M MRS 256,164 300,311
Purchase of products and services PR E M MR 167,799 105,171
Interest income B U A 14,697 9,943
Rental income e WA = 2,401
Interest expenses FEX 18,060 23,209
Property management fee MEEESB 4,933 5,088
Additions of right-of-use assets NETRESE 62,321 293
Associate & N\ A
Purchase of products and services BREEE o M RIS 11,637 7,924
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e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 300 BMAERZ NG (&
AND BALANCES (Cont’d)
(b) Significant balances with related (b) EHREEAE Z2E K&
parties
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%F12A318 2023%12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FA& T
CEC and companies under FEEFEER
common control of CEC ZTHHABEZEHH 2 AT
Trade receivables g S rEWFIE 29,107 39,206
Other receivables H {th i U 5R 8
— Accrued interest income and - BRI BRA R E A
other receivables & W Fk 18 12,066 17,284
— Prepayments - FEfTRIE 20 52
Cash and deposits Be REFER 734,653 743,191
Contract liabilities =R =R 49,680 82,687
Trade payables 2 5N RIE 86,710 61,737
Other payables H h fE& 1~ 518 74,550 59,676
Loans from a shareholder REER 313,161 430,359
Entrusted loans from ultimate A T
holding company ZEER 64,859 66,209
Associate /N
Trade payables 2 5 M RIE 2,812 662
Other payables H h F& - ;I8 303 1,102

Other than the cash and deposits and the borrowings
which are interest bearing, the above balances with

RIS RERMEE RN SN - £t BEE T & 84
REER REARBEEBENERGREESE -

related parties were unsecured, interest-free and B E R EEIR RIRFE N E38% (20234F :

settled according to the relevant contract terms. The

borrowings from related parties are unsecured and with
an interest rate of 3.8% (2023: 3.9%) per annum.

39%)&TR -

() Key management compensation (c) FEEE ASImM
Year ended 31 December

HBZ12A8318LEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  # 4 ~ 2B R EWEF 5,093 7,523
Contributions to retirement schemes RIRET SR 288 280
5,381 7,803

HE

EFEARNKARQA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

31. INFORMATION ABOUT STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

3. BRAQAMBRREZEH

COMPANY
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20249128318 2023F12H31H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ik FET FHTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB REE 26 113
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,072 2,294
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRIKE 32 895,833 937,496
896,931 939,903
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables H 5 & B th i W 508 230,748 183,833
Time deposits T BATF 3K 23,757 22,070
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREeEEY 41,851 72,264
296,356 278,167
Total assets EERE 1,193,287 1,218,070
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Emkas
Equity s
Share capital and premium IR A K B 22 225,454 225,454
Reserves G (@) 192,753 266,850
418,207 492,304
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEERE = 1,117
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 KE Al A IR 7.223 6,158
Bank and other borrowings RIThEMEER 766,706 717,265
Lease liabilities HEBRE 1,098 1,172
Income tax payable FET PR 1S B KB 53 54
775,080 724,649
Total liabilities REAE 775,080 725,766
Total equity and liabilities EnRkEEEHE 1,193,287 1,218,070

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved by the Board on 28 March 2025 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Sun Jie &
Director 2%

KRB Z MR R KR EEESHK2025F3H28H
#HE THTIWATREES

Chang Feng ¥ &
Director Z%
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e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

31. INFORMATION ABOUT STATEMENT 31, EEAQAAIMBERRRZER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE (4&)
COMPANY (Cont’'d)
(a) Reserves (a) fRfE
Translation Contributed Retained
reserve surplus earnings Total
fE R EfRHR HREER HE
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAETT FA7T TFET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H18 (107,351) 404,368 2,751 299,768
Total comprehensive income 2 HE W #5858 (11,267) = 140,739 129,472
Payment of dividend AT AR 2 = (162,390) - (162,390)
At 31 December 2023 72023%512831H (118,618) 241,978 143,490 266,850
At 1 January 2024 202451818 (118,618) 241,978 143,490 266,850
Total comprehensive income 2 T Y 25 A2 %8 (8,720) - 147,760 139,040
Payment of dividend & AR B - - (213,137) (213,137)
At 31 December 2024 72024%12831H (127,338) 241,978 78,113 192,753

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus of the Company is distributable to
shareholders in certain circumstances as specified in

Section 54 thereof.

RIEBREIGIFARE KRR ZEHAGA]
REZRBLEFESMEREIBAZHE THERT 2K TR

o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

32. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 32. RAMIBARIRE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%12H31H 20239F12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHTT
Investments — unlisted equity interests & & —3F i % & 895,833 937,496
Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December FEEH B R A R20245F %2023F 128318 2 5
2024 and 2023 are as follows: BT

Interest held

i $+
2024 2023
Place of establishment Principal place of 2024% 2023F
Name and type of legal entity operation and activities Paid-in capital ~ Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
£8 RIBHRERERER TREERURER BhEX ER F BE k3
Huada Electronics  PRC, limited liability company ~ Mainland China, design and RMB446,800,000 100% - 100% -
EXET HE - BEREEAT sale of integrated circuit A K %446,800,0007
chips
REIA - RRERTRH 2
Rt RIHE
Huahong PRC, limited liability company ~ Mainland China, design and RMB158,471,000 - 95.64% - 95.64%
T wE AREMAF sale of integrated circuit A K%158,471,0007
chips
hE RN RRERLRZ
Rt REE
The Board is of the opinion that the non-controlling EEORE EN2IEEREREAEEmS B
interests of Huahong is immaterial to the Group and TEE WWERBREL 2MBEER -
thus the financial information of Huahong is not
disclosed.
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e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z%2024F 12 A31H L FE

33. EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS OF 33. XAQBEENHE
THE COMPANY

(i) For the year ended 31 December 2024 (i) HE£2024F12A831BLLFE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s ERES (BRARRXANBEAR) BERBE M
services as a director, whether of the Company or its BB enT :

subsidiaries, are as follows:

Retirement
benefit
Salary and costs  Discretionary
Name of director Fee allowances BIKER bonus Total
EEps e He R B WA ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TET TET TET
Sun Jie@ #He - - - - -
Xu Haidong® FBERS - - - - -
Chang Feng 3 - 1,008 229 2,187 3,424
Wang Jian® Fale - - - - -
Luo Wenjing® R ES = — - - -
Fu Dan® e - - - - -
Liu Jinmei® 2|10 = - - - -
Chan Kay Cheung GRS 200 - - - 200
Qiu Hongsheng lprses 200 - - - 200
Chow Chan Lum R 200 - - - 200
Huang Yaping® "HTe 119 - - - 119
719 1,008 229 2,187 4,143
o Discretionary bonus for the year 2022 and 2023 received in 2024. @ 2024 F W ERHI20225F [F ) 2023 EWIBIEAL ©
@ Appointed in September 2024. @ R2024FIRBEE -
® Resigned in September 2024. ® H2024F9 A BT -
@ Appointed in January 2024. @ M2024F 1 AEZ T -
®) Resigned in January 2024. ®) R2024F 1 A BHE -
® Appointed in November 2024. ® R2024F 1M AERT -
@ Retired in November 2024. o R2024F 11 AR -
® Appointed in May 2024. @® MR2024F5ABEE -
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the RAFEAN  NREBWEREESZ NS ERIN
Group to the directors as an inducement to join BASENMBERNEER 2 REINEABRE

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for B-REAFEATBEEHNEETAMNE -
loss of office. None of the directors had waived any
emoluments during the year.

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance ARAB 2 EEWENRNANEE TR W RF 4 H sk
to which the Group was a party and in which a director AEERNEAREERCEARS » ZHIEL
of the Company had a material interest, whether HhEESNREEREERAER

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z£2024F 12431 B IEFE

33. EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS OF 33. AAQTEENME (Z)
THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

(ii)  For the year ended 31 December 2023 (ii) & ZE2023F12A31BLFEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s ERES (BRARFXANBEAR) BERBE M
services as a director, whether of the Company or its BN EEHME0nT :

subsidiaries, are as follows:

Retirement
benefit
Salary and costs  Discretionary
Name of director Fee allowances RIKER bonus Total
EEHY ik e R AR WETEA G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAT TR TR
Xu Haidong TER - - = - -
Chang Feng S - 717 220 5,028 5,965
Luo Wenijing BYE - _ . _ _
Liu Jinmei 2|1 - - - - -
Chan Kay Cheung B S 200 - - - 200
Qiu Hongsheng ipde 200 - - - 200
Chow Chan Lum FEM 200 = = = 200
600 717 220 5,028 6,565
™ Discretionary bonus for the year 2021 and 2022 received in 2023. ) P2023FE U EL 2021 E & 20224 FE B IS TEAT o

146 china Electronics Huada Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A =
e BHRRHE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024F 12 A318 It FE
34. NET CASH 3. REFH
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%12831H 20234 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FE T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFE2EFEEYD 743,036 1,107,515
Time deposits EHITFE R 1,578,766 1,390,391
Restricted cash ZREEE 2 1
Borrowings repayable —FREEEE
within one year (378,020) (496,568)
Lease liabilities HEAE (45,033) (12,244)
Net cash R& 8 1,898,751 1,989,095
Cash, time deposits and Re FHEFERE
restricted cash PR #38 & 2,321,804 2,497,907
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BRAE BT X (378,020) (496,568)
Lease liabilities HEAEF (45,033) (12,244)
Net cash R& R 1,898,751 1,989,095
Liabilities
from
financing
activities -
Other assets Roroninc:
sfiEE fepayable
within
one year
REEHH
Time  Restricted G- Lease
Cash deposits cash —E®  liabilities Total
e EEEX ERHRE  HERE  HERE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THIL THL THIL THT
Year ended B 22023%12R31R
31 December 2023 LEE
Opening net cash/(debt) ENRe/ (BH) FH 1,172,748 821,700 33859  (615,715) (35,563) 1,377,029
Cash flows REME (44,453) 584,328 (33,598) 111,089 23,340 640,706
Exchange differences ERER (20,780) (15,637) (260) 8,058 356 (28,263)
Other movements Hip# = = = = (377) (377)
Closing net cash/(debt) EXRe/ (EH)FE 1,107,515 1,390,391 1 (496,568) (12,244) 1,989,095
Year ended B 22024%12R31R
31 December 2024 1:3:5
Opening net cash/(debt) MR/ (BK) 58 1,107,515 1,390,391 1 (496,568) (12,244) 1,989,095
Cash flows REME (340,775) 218,133 1 109,565 23,938 10,862
Exchange differences RS (23,704) (29,758) - 8,983 745 (43,734)
Other movements Hip# - - - = (57,472) (57,472)
Closing net cash/(debt) FXRe/ (B%)FHE 743,03 1,578,766 2 (378,020) (45,033) 1,898,751

FEETEANKERAA 202455%K 147



Financial Summary

EHE
RESULTS ¥E
Year ended 31 December
BZN2A3ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT THAT FAET TET
Revenue 2,348,984 3,019,120 2,483,114 1,681,654 1,324,556
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable SFBRAANBEZEEEZ
to owners of the Company KEERF/ (BR) 587,501 686,431 531,431 125,444 (1,013,263)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
31 December
12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTHET TAT FTET THET
Total assets 4,174,001 4,326,786 4,056,750 2,840,990 2,562,239
Total liabilities (1,702,975) (2,180,565) (2,404,067) (1,566,993) (1,449,869)
2,471,026 2,146,221 1,652,683 1,273,997 1,112,370
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